
Chief Executive

BOARD MEMBERSHIP

Councillor Mark Dennett (Chair) Labour
Councillor Geoffrey Logan (Vice-
Chair)

Labour

Councillor Marjorie Bradshaw Conservative
Councillor Chris Carlin Labour
Councillor Lauren Cassidy Labour
Councillor Pauline Hignett Labour
Councillor Rosie Leck Labour
Councillor Peter Lloyd Jones Labour
Councillor John Stockton Labour
Councillor Angela Teeling Labour
Councillor Louise Whitley Labour

Please contact Ann Jones on 0151 511 8276 or e-mail 
ann.jones@halton.gov.uk  for further information.
The next meeting of the Board is to be confirmed.

Children Young People and Families 
Policy and Performance Board

Monday, 25 January 2021 at 6.30 p.m.
To be held remotely, please contact Clerk 
for access

Public Document Pack



ITEMS TO BE DEALT WITH 
IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

Part l

Item No. Page No.

1. MINUTES 1 - 7

2. DECLARATION OF INTEREST (INCLUDING PARTY WHIP 
DECLARATIONS) 

 
Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or Other Disclosable Interest 
which they have in any item of business on the agenda, no later 
than when that item is reached or as soon as the interest 
becomes apparent and, with Disclosable Pecuniary interests, to 
leave the meeting during any discussion or voting on the item.

3. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 8 - 10

4. EXECUTIVE BOARD MINUTES 11 - 14

5. SSP MINUTES 15 - 22

6. DEVELOPMENT OF POLICY ISSUES

(A) HALTON LOCAL AREA SEND STRATEGY 2021-25  23 - 25

(B) HEADTEACHER OF THE VIRTUAL SCHOOL’S ANNUAL 
REPORT FOR HALTON CHILDREN IN CARE  

26 - 78

In accordance with the Health and Safety at Work Act the Council is 
required to notify those attending meetings of the fire evacuation 
procedures. A copy has previously been circulated to Members and 
instructions are located in all rooms within the Civic block.



CHILDREN YOUNG PEOPLE AND FAMILIES POLICY AND PERFORMANCE 
BOARD

At a meeting of the Children Young People and Families Policy and Performance Board 
on Monday, 23 November 2020 held remotely

Present: Councillors Dennett (Chair), Logan (Vice-Chair), M. Bradshaw, Carlin, 
Cassidy, Leck, P. Lloyd Jones, J. Stockton, Teeling and Whitley 

Apologies for Absence: Councillor P. Hignett

Absence declared on Council business: None

Officers present: M. Vasic, A. McIntyre, A. Jones, T. Coffey, D. Roberts and 
K. Mackenzie

Also in attendance: One member of the press

Action
CYP12 MINUTES

The Minutes of the meeting held on 14 September 
2020 were taken as read and signed as a correct record.

CYP13 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME

Members were advised that no public questions had 
been received.

CYP14 COVID-19 UPDATE

The Board received a presentation on the current 
response to the Covid-19 Pandemic and how service 
delivery had been altered to respond to initially Tier 3 and 
now lockdown restrictions.

Following the Education part of the presentation, 
Members queried:

The morale of teaching staff and how this had been affected 
during the Pandemic – staff were feeling the strain due to 
the need to catch up on teaching lost due to students and 
teachers not being in school during periods of isolation.  
Remote learning was challenging for some teachers and 

ITEMS DEALT WITH 
UNDER DUTIES 

EXERCISABLE BY THE BOARD

Page 1 Agenda Item 1



students and some teachers were now teaching in the 
classroom and remotely as well.

Positive feedback had been received from schools who felt 
that they had been well supported.  Staff were 
understandably anxious and school leaders were feeling the 
stress.  To help prevent burn out they were encouraged to 
encourage distributive leadership and put a greater 
emphasis on health and wellbeing.  The Council’s Education 
Team had made themselves available at any time to provide 
advice and support, schools had been provided with regular 
briefings and there had been weekly meetings with each of 
the school groups to discuss and address any emerging 
issues.  Additionally, the Health Improvement Team, 
Behaviour Support and the Educational Psychologists were 
available as part of the support offered.

How was the morale of Headteachers – The Council was 
trying to support Headteachers and offered advice from 
Senior Officers when support was needed.   Ofsted 
inspections in the near future could be difficult to manage 
with staffing levels changing, so they had been requested to 
defer these.  Weekly meetings were taking place with 
headteachers from primary, secondary and special schools 
to discuss emerging issues and share good practice.  Tp 
date thirty-two schools had been audited by Health and 
Safety colleagues and advice and guidance had been 
provided to headteachers.   It was noted that The Heath 
Academy had received a Health and Safety Executive (HSE) 
inspection with support provided by Health and Safety 
colleagues.  There were no recommendations for 
improvement.

How has Covid-19 effected school budgets – at the start of 
the Pandemic some costs were covered by additional 
Government funds, however supply teaching cover was not 
included.  It would not be clear for some time how schools’ 
finances would be effected by the Pandemic.    

Following concerns over the lost time for Year 11 
students and the likely impact on their GCSE’s, Members 
were advised that a letter had been sent from the leaders of 
the LCR authorities to the Head of Ofsted, the Head of 
Ofqual and the Secretary of State for Education, requesting 
flexibility with exam timetables and Ofsted inspections in the 
region.  

 The Board was also advised of the some unintended 
benefits since the Coronavirus had taken hold, such as the 
increases in pupil attendance; the increased attendance in 

Page 2



early years settings with 86% of them remaining open in 
Halton during the Pandemic; no large increases in the 
number of pupils being home educated compared to last 
year and the reduction in exclusions.

Following the Children Social Care and Early Help 
part of the presentation, Members queried:

Staff morale and welfare in the care sector and effects of 
self-isolation on the service – very few staff needed to self-
isolate as early on in the Pandemic office based staff had 
formed bubbles in specific groups to include a manager and 
supervisor.  If self-isolation was required, the impact was 
manageable.  The welfare support provided helped staff 
enormously and they knew they could meet face to face if 
required.  It was commented that although the sickness level 
had dropped during the Pandemic and the staff were 
generally healthy, they would be monitored and support 
services would continue.

It was noted that the financial information for quarter 
two of 2020-21 was unavailable at the time of publishing so 
this would be sent to the Board when it was completed.

Members welcomed the positive feedback received 
and agreed that staff had coped very well during this difficult 
and challenging time and gave their thanks.  It was 
understood however that more challenging times lay ahead 
as the demand for social care referrals, child protection 
plans and children in care placements were ever increasing.

RESOLVED:  That the presentation be received.

Operational 
Director - 
Education, 
Inclusion and 
Provision 

CYP15 CHILDCARE SUFFICIENCY ASSESSMENT REVIEW 
AUTUMN 2020 – 2021 (CSA)

The Board considered a report from the Strategic 
Director – People, which provided a summary of the revised 
Childcare Sufficiency Assessment (CSA) Report.

It was noted that Sections 6 and 7 of The Childcare 
Act (2006) and the associated statutory guidance: Early 
Education and Childcare – Statutory guidance for local 
authorities (March 2018), required all local authorities in 
England to undertake and provide an annual childcare 
sufficiency report to elected Council Members on how they 
were meeting their duty to secure sufficient childcare and to 
make it available to the public.  In accordance with this, 
Halton’s Childcare Sufficiency Assessment had been 
reviewed and updated – this was attached to the report.

Page 3



The CSA Report detailed achievements since the last 
review and outlined Halton’s current position.  It also 
highlighted any gaps in provision and explained how these 
were being addressed. It also discussed the early 
indications of how the effects of Covid-19 were affecting the 
childcare sector.  Members queried:

What can the Council do to provide extra day care provision 
for under 2 year olds – in terms of provision this segment 
was reliant upon the Private, Voluntary and Independent 
(PVI) sector to meet demand.  Halton did promote early 
years provision and encouraged existing providers to 
expand and potential new providers to open.  

How residents from the most deprived Ward in Halton 
(Windmill Hill) were able to take children to nurseries outside 
of their area due to lack of provision – the review highlighted 
a deficit in places in Windmill Hill but feedback from parents 
and other users of childcare in the area had shown a 
willingness to travel outside of the area.  Parents from 
Windmill Hill and other areas were generally satisfied with 
early years childcare provision in the Borough and were 
prepared to travel to access the setting they preferred.   
Members asked that the data be looked at again to ensure 
that this was still the case.  

How long does it take to become registered as a childminder 
– the system needed to be rigorous to ensure health and 
safety training and safeguarding checks were all in place, 
there was also the requirement to be registered with Ofsted.  
Information on the actual length of time this took would be 
sought and provided to Members.

It was noted that part of the Council’s CSA Action 
Plan 2020-21 focussed on the encouragement of new 
providers to enter into the local childcare market in the 
Borough.

RESOLVED:  That the revised Childcare Sufficiency 
Assessment be approved.

Operational 
Director - 
Education, 
Inclusion and 
Provision 

CYP16 ANNUAL REPORT - COMMENTS, COMPLAINTS AND 
COMPLIMENTS RELATING TO CHILDREN’S SOCIAL 
CARE SERVICES 1ST APRIL 2019 - 31ST MARCH 2020

The Board was presented with the Annual Reports for 
Comments, Complaints and Compliments relating to 
Children’s Social Care Services from 1 April 2019 to 31 
March 2020.   

Page 4



The report provided analysis on complaints 
processed under the Children Act 1989 Representations 
Procedure, and evidenced how feedback from service users 
had been used to improve service delivery.  It was reported 
that the aim of the Children Act 1989 Representations 
Procedure was for children and young people to have their 
concerns resolved swiftly and wherever possible, by the 
people who provided the service locally.  It was noted that a 
complaint may generally be defined as an expression of 
dissatisfaction or disquiet in relation to an individual child or 
young person, which required a response.

Members were advised that there were four 
categories to the representation process: Statutory 
Complaints; Representations; Customer Care Issues; and 
Compliments.  Commentary on these was provided in the 
report which also presented detailed information and data 
relating to the numbers of complaints received between 1 
April 2019 and 31 March 2020.

The report also detailed feedback on compliments 
made by clients and positive feedback from workers / 
professionals relating to Children’s Services in the 
Directorate.  The positive impact and outcomes on the lives 
of people accessing services in this Directorate were 
highlighted.

Members welcomed the report and recognised the 
good work that goes on, as presented in the feedback 
examples from Child Protection and Children in Need, 
Children in Care and Care Leavers, and Team around the 
Family (paragraphs 3.1, 3.2 and 3.3 respectively).  It was 
also understood that managing complaints was also about 
managing a client’s expectations which these days was 
much higher due to improved technology and 
communication, and people forget that staff have caseloads 
to manage and were not available all the time.  Officers did 
learn from complaints and some learning had informed 
future modelling and made a difference.

Members commended the Children’s Social Care 
Services and all the staff working in the various departments 
who had improved the quality of or saved people’s lives. 

RESOLVED:  That the reports presented be accepted 
as the mechanism by which Elected Members can monitor 
and scrutinise Children’s Social Care complaints and 
compliments.

Page 5



CYP17 PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT REPORTS FOR 
QUARTER 2 OF 2020/21

The Board received the Performance Management 
reports for quarter 2 of 2020-21 (1 July 2020 to 30 
September 2020).  

It was noted that the key priorities for development or 
improvement in 2020-21 were agreed by Members and 
included in the Local Authority’s Business Plan, for the 
various functional areas reported to the Board as follows:

 Education, Inclusion and Provision Services; and 
 Children and Families Services.

The reports detailed progress made against 
objectives and milestones and performance targets and 
provided information relating to key developments and 
emerging issues that had arisen during the period.  
Members were requested to consider and raise any 
questions or points of clarification in respect of these.

The following queries were made:

The numbers of children who were placed in foster care was 
up – due to an increase in older children with complex needs 
requiring care from specialised carers who were unavailable, 
resulting in the use of independent fostering agencies.  
Recruitment for foster carers had continued throughout the 
Pandemic.

There was a decrease in the number of Care Leavers in 
education, employment or training – funding had been 
received for an extra staff post to support this as extra 
capacity was needed, as identified in the Ofsted Action Plan.

Was there a limited amount of places available in further 
education in Halton – the numbers of NEETS (Not in 
Employment, Education or Training) in Halton was well 
below the national average, although there were problems 
with NEET in Care Leavers as mentioned above.  There 
were less young people accessing 6th Forms in schools in 
Halton because they were moving onto Cronton or Riverside 
Colleges which offered excellent academic and vocational 
courses.  Neither College had reported being 
oversubscribed.

Was Covid responsible for those children admitted to 
Welfare Secure – no it was for safeguarding reasons for 
children at risk of criminal or sexual exploitation not Covid.  

Page 6



Welfare Secure provided safety and security for the children 
involved.

RESOLVED:  That the quarter 2 performance 
management reports be received.

Meeting ended at 8.28 p.m.

Page 7



REPORT TO: Children, Young People and Families Policy & 
Performance Board

DATE: 25 January 2021

REPORTING OFFICER: Strategic Director, Enterprise, Community and 
Resources 

SUBJECT: Public Question Time

WARD(s): Borough-wide

1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To consider any questions submitted by the Public in accordance with 
Standing Order 34(9). 

1.2 Details of any questions received will be circulated at the meeting.

2.0 RECOMMENDED: That any questions received be dealt with.

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION

3.1 Standing Order 34(9) states that Public Questions shall be dealt with as 
follows:-

(i) A total of 30 minutes will be allocated for dealing with questions 
from members of the public who are residents of the Borough, to 
ask questions at meetings of the Policy and Performance Boards. 

(ii) Members of the public can ask questions on any matter relating to 
the agenda.

(iii) Members of the public can ask questions. Written notice of 
questions must be given by 4.00 pm on the working day prior to 
the date of the meeting to the Committee Services Manager. At 
any one meeting no person/organisation may submit more than 
one question.

(iv) One supplementary question (relating to the original question) may 
be asked by the questioner, which may or may not be answered at 
the meeting.

(v) The Chair or proper officer may reject a question if it:-
 Is not about a matter for which the local authority has a 

responsibility or which affects the Borough;
 Is defamatory, frivolous, offensive, abusive or racist;

Page 8 Agenda Item 3



 Is substantially the same as a question which has been put at 
a meeting of the Council in the past six months; or

 Requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information.
(vi) In the interests of natural justice, public questions cannot relate to 

a planning or licensing application or to any matter which is not 
dealt with in the public part of a meeting.

(vii) The Chair will ask for people to indicate that they wish to ask a 
question.

(viii) PLEASE NOTE that the maximum amount of time each 
questioner will be allowed is 3 minutes.

(ix) If you do not receive a response at the meeting, a Council Officer 
will ask for your name and address and make sure that you 
receive a written response.

Please bear in mind that public question time lasts for a maximum 
of 30 minutes. To help in making the most of this opportunity to 
speak:-

 Please keep your questions as concise as possible.

 Please do not repeat or make statements on earlier questions as 
this reduces the time available for other issues to be raised. 

 Please note public question time is not intended for debate – 
issues raised will be responded to either at the meeting or in 
writing at a later date.

4.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS

None.

5.0 OTHER IMPLICATIONS

None. 

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES

6.1 Children and Young People in Halton  - none.

6.2 Employment, Learning and Skills in Halton  - none.

6.3 A Healthy Halton – none.

6.4 A Safer Halton – none.

6.5 Halton’s Urban Renewal – none.

Page 9



7.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

7.1 None.

8.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

8.1 There are no background papers under the meaning of the Act.

Page 10



REPORT TO: Children, Young People and Families Policy and 
Performance Board

DATE: 25 January 2021 

REPORTING OFFICER: Chief Executive 

SUBJECT: Executive Board Minutes

WARD(s): Boroughwide

1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 The Minutes relating to the Children and Young People Portfolio which 
have been considered by the Executive Board are attached at 
Appendix 1 for information.

1.2 The Minutes are submitted to inform the Policy and Performance Board 
of decisions taken in their area.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That the Minutes be noted.

3.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS

3.1 None.

4.0 OTHER IMPLICATIONS

4.1 None. 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES

5.1 Children and Young People in Halton

None 

5.2 Employment, Learning and Skills in Halton

None 

5.3 A Healthy Halton

None

5.4 A Safer Halton

None 

5.5 Halton’s Urban Renewal

Page 11 Agenda Item 4



None

6.0 RISK ANALYSIS

6.1 None.

7.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

7.1 None.

8.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

8.1 There are no background papers under the meaning of the Act.

Page 12



Appendix 1

Extract of Executive Board Minutes relevant to the Children, Young Peoples 
and Families Policy and Performance Board

EXECUTIVE BOARD MEETING HELD ON 10 DECEMBER 2020

EXB52 THE FUNDING FORMULA FOR MAINSTREAM SCHOOLS & 
ACADEMIES FOR 2021-22

The Board received a report from the Strategic Director – People, which 
outlined the proposal for the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) Schools Block Funding 
Formula for Halton’s mainstream schools and academies for 2021-22.

The National Funding Formula (NFF) was used by the Department for 
Education to calculate the Schools Block element of the DSG allocated to Halton.  It 
was reported that further to earlier consultation with schools and the Schools Forum, 
it was decided to move Halton’s mainstream schools and academies to the NFF, 
with transitional protection for 2018-19 and 2019-20.

The Board was requested to make a decision on the funding formula to be 
adopted for 2021-22; the changes to the NFF for 2021-22 were outlined in the report.  
The consultation paper sent to schools was attached at Appendix A which also 
presented each factor of the NFF and the Council’s recommendation to continue to 
use this for 2021-22.  The consultation process and responses were provided in the 
report.

RESOLVED:  The Board approves the continuation of the National Funding 
Formula for 2021-22.

EXB53 PARENT TO PARENT VOLUNTEER FAMILY SUPPORT 
PROGRAMME: REQUEST FOR WAIVER OF STANDING ORDERS

The Board received a request for a waiver of Standing Orders in relation to 
‘The Venus Project’ who delivered the Parent to Parent Volunteer Family Support 
Programme.

The Programme recruited, trained, supervised and developed skills of local 
volunteers who were parents themselves, so that they could provide support and 
practical assistance to families under stress.  Additionally it also delivered the 
Intensive Cleaning Experience (ICE) Programme, which supported parents and 
carers to put in place and maintain household cleaning and decluttering routines.

It was reported that the contract was due to end in January 2021.  The 
reasons for a waiver request rather than implementing a tender process were 
outlined in the report.  The request was for a period of one year from 1 February 
2021 to 31 January 2022, with the option of a further one-year extension.

Page 13



RESOLVED:  That the Executive Board approves the waiver in compliance 
with Procurement Standing Order 1.14.1 iv of Part 3, to allow the continuation of a 
contract with The Venus Project to deliver, on behalf of the Council, the Parent to 
Parent Volunteer Family Support Programme, for a period of one year with the 
option to extend for a further year.  

Page 14



REPORT TO: Children, Young People and Families Policy and 
Performance Board

DATE: 25 January 2021

REPORTING OFFICER: Chief Executive 

SUBJECT: Special Strategic Partnership Board Minutes

WARD(s): Boroughwide

1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 The DRAFT minutes relating to the Children’s Trust meeting held on 3 
December 2020 are attached at appendix one for information.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That the Minutes be noted.

3.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS

3.1 None.

4.0 OTHER IMPLICATIONS

4.1 None. 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES

5.1 Children and Young People in Halton

None. 

5.2 Employment, Learning and Skills in Halton

None.

5.3 A Healthy Halton

None.

5.4 A Safer Halton

None.

5.5 Halton’s Urban Renewal

None.

6.0 RISK ANALYSIS

Page 15 Agenda Item 5



6.1 None.

7.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

7.1 None.

8.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

8.1 There are no background papers under the meaning of the Act.

Page 16



1

Review of Halton Children’s Trust Arrangements – 3.12.2020

Notes/Actions

Attendees:
Cllr Tom McInerney (HBC), Dot Roberts (HBC CYP Policy), Mal Hampson (HSO), John Hunt 
(Bright Sparks), Clare Collins (HSCF), Angela Woolfall (Foster Carers), Mil Vasic (HBC People), 
Ann McIntyre (HBC Education/SEND), Tracey Coffey (HBC Children & Family), Lee Bloomfield 
(NWBH), Helen Whittick (NWBH-CAMHS), Pauline Jones (HHT), David Baugh 
(Pewithall/HAPH), Mary Murphy (Riverside College), Steph Birchall (HBC CICC), Charlotte and 
Tyler (CICC), Zarah Ross (Youth Focus NW), Elliot and Leah (HYC), Tracy Ryan (HBC CYP 
Policy) and Kelly Collier (HBC CYP Policy).

Apologies:
Gareth Jones (HBC Youth Justice), Danielle Scott (Sts P&P/HASH), SI Laura Marler (Cheshire 
Police), PC Jane Tetlow (Cheshire Police), Andy Shakeshaft (Bridgewater), Jessica Burton 
(Cheshire Fire & Rescue), Hayley Dooley (DWP Jobcentre Plus), Shélah Semoff (HBC), David 
Parr (HBC), Lynne Hall (HSCF), Denise Roberts (Halton CCG), Eileen O’Meara (HBC Public 
Health), Cllr Dave Cargill (HBC), Jane Kinsella (Bridgewater/Children’s Specialist Services) and 
Cleo Alonso.

1.0 Trust Arrangements Recap
The Policy Team provided a short recap/overview of the arrangements that members agreed at 
the end of last year.  That the draft Terms of Reference for the new Trust Executive Group and 
the Participation/Consultation Group had been produced for agreement by both groups at the 
meetings scheduled for February/March 2020.

Unfortunately, members may recall that our plans to implement the new Trust structure were 
temporarily put on-hold initially due to the ILACS Ofsted Inspection and then COVID-19.

The impact of the COVID pandemic on everyone’s lives (work, family and social life) has been 
profound. Now was an opportune time for members to reflect on the past eight months, share 
experiences/updates on this and then consider how this learning will influence the Trust 
arrangements to be introduced in 2021.

COVID-19 experiences, updates and impact 

Bright Sparks
 Consultation work and keeping in touch with young people at Bright Sparks has been 

challenging when not able to meet up in person.  
 Contact maintained by Zoom and the occasional social distancing meetings when not in 

lockdown.
 Work with young people usually undertaken in schools has not been possible due to 

COVID.
 Participation in consultation work and/or review meetings etc using Skype has been 

extremely difficult and impractical due to the lack of support required in overcoming 
technical communication challenges for young people with SEND that already have 
communication difficulties.

Page 17



2

Halton Speak Out
 HSO have branched out into two new areas of project work recently during the pandemic.
 The Proceeds of Crime Team with Iridium Education are helping to set up an arts/music 

project for young people.
 As part of the new youth services being developed, the Council has funded the Make 

Your Place, The Place project covering Brookvale and Sutton Park.  The Police, Kops in 
Kids are supporting this inclusive community project with young people from Bright 
Sparks, Sandymoor and Ormiston Bolingbroke Academy.  The young people will learn 
how to conduct audits of what’s available locally for them, review the impact of COVID on 
their lives and identify what they want for the future. The work undertaken by the young 
people will lead onto an accreditation with British Youth Council.  See leaflet attached.

Halton SEND Carers Forum
 Parents and carers have found dealing with the impact of COVID very challenging as all 

contact is usually face-to-face and many parents struggle with IT so home schooling and 
keeping in touch has been difficult.

Halton Foster Carers
 Similar to the other groups, keeping in touch, maintaining contact and the lack of being 

to connect with each other face-to-face has been very difficult to deal with.  
 To support each other they set up a WhatsApp chat group, used social media and used 

the time to access online training as much as possible.  
 Usual foster carers’ recruitment was replaced by recruiting carers via Radio sessions.  
 Others challenges have been schooling, IT has been a big challenge in supporting 

children and young people placed in their care placement. 
 Tracey Coffey acknowledged that our foster carers have done a brilliant job in continuing 

to support children – they have been outstanding.  
 David Baugh wished to note that all local schools have recognised the proactive work 

and support the foster carers have maintained for children throughout the pandemic and 
added that the work done by them has been phenomenal.  

HBC - Education and SEND
 As of 3 December 2020, we currently have 415 child and young people self-isolating.
 HBC Health and Safety Team have produced new guidance and risk assessments for 

schools and supported 57 schools in undertaking COVID risk assessments.
 Schools have worked throughout the pandemic to support education for key workers and 

vulnerable children.
 Schools have maintained to keep local children safe and are doing a fantastic job.
 The regular SEND assurance meetings with Ofsted has taken place virtually with good 

progress being made on work underway. 
 David Baugh added that all primary school Headteachers would like it on record that the 

support provided by the Council during the pandemic has been fantastic and they would 
all like to thank Ann McIntyre, Mil Vasic and Jill Farrell for their support. David mentioned 
thanks to Lynn/Paul (Health & Safety) for all their support and guidance.

HBC – Children & Family (Children’s Social Care -CSC)
 CSC Self Evaluation Framework (SEF) currently being completing.
 1700 individual risk assessments were conducted at the beginning of COVID.  
 Contact by the service was maintained either daily, weekly or on a regular basis with 

families, children and young people. 

Page 18



3

 The pandemic has presented opportunities to progress more creative ways of working 
e.g. online learning, using social media to engage with Dad’s not previously had 
involvement with.

 Initially at start of pandemic rate of referrals rose, then cases calmed down and now 
seeing a slight increase due to Domestic Abuse.

 The emotional health and well-being impact of COVID has been the most significant on 
children and young people at level 2 (Halton Level of Need).

 For children and young people at the higher level 3, this has led to an increase in family 
strain with an increase in the number of Child Protection cases. 

 Children in Care Teams have managed to maintain contact, the use of virtual contact with 
children and young people has been well liked, they felt they had more contact and able 
to get in touch more easily with social workers.  

 The pandemic has allowed new and different ways of working and worked with Ann’s 
department (Education/SEND) to ensure the work continued.

 Face-to-face visits for vulnerable children using PPE, even when there was still a risk of 
COVID continued. Otherwise, virtual contacts has been used – consistent feedback from 
families, children and young people is that they really like this way of keeping in touch. 

 Things to consider for the future will be how the service manage the demand to meet the 
longer term impact of COVID on families.

North West Boroughs NHS Foundation Trust
 What has been really notable across the organisation is the response of staff in 

responding to the pandemic.  
 Senior leaders agreed that the service NHS staff have provided in the circumstances has 

been unbelievable.
 Gold, Silver and Bronze level of meetings were put in place to prioritise and manage 

cases – meetings were held daily to allow cases to be stepped up and down as the 
pandemic progressed.

 Compared to other North West local authorities and partner agencies, NWBH noted that 
Halton has managed services very well across the Borough during the pandemic. 

 Virtual contact in supporting patients has depended on individual circumstances, it has 
worked well for some people and not for others.  A lot of learning is being taken forward 
and NWBH intend to continue using this approach in the future.

 At the start of the pandemic, NWBH implemented business continuity plans to 
manage/deliver services.  Eight months on, these plans are now at the restoration and 
recovery phase.

 The ability to mobilise services at a fast pace and cut through ‘red tape’ was brilliant.  For 
example, a crisis line for adults and children was introduced in 9 days, which would 
previously have taken 9 months.  

 It is hoped that services can be introduced/delivered much quicker in future.
 It has been really tough, the team have been fantastic in maintaining the service.
 Halton CAMHS services will continue to develop and go from strength to strength.
 There has been a recognition that all partners have had to adapt and have worked 

together really well in these difficult circumstances.

Halton Housing Trust
 It has been extremely busy and tough time during the pandemic.
 The Council and HHT have worked together very well to support families, especially in 

responding to rough sleepers and homelessness.
 Really very proud of the people we work with in the Borough and for supporting people 

to stay safe.

Page 19



4

 Tom wished to record thanks to HHT for the work in organising and delivering the food 
hampers to local families. 

HAPH - Primary schools rep
 Dealing with the pandemic has been very tough for schools/staff, schools remained open 

from the first lockdown in March 2020 to enable 84 key workers’ children and vulnerable 
children to attend school.

 School staff have learnt about anti-bacterial cleaning and sanitising procedures across 
all areas within the school.  This was needed to keep all staff and pupils safe in meeting 
the COVID-19 safety requirements/guidelines.

 Staff came into schools from 7.30am to clean, then cleaning sessions around every 2 
hours was required throughout the school day. To accommodate these new routines, the 
number of lessons able to be delivered per day was very restricted. 

 Prior to the children returning to school in September, school staff were able to maintain 
contact with all 214 pupils for a number of different reasons.  For example, providing the 
free school meals deliveries to children in their own homes was an important way to keep 
in contact and ensure pupils remained safe.  

 Pewithall have 214 pupils on roll, all of these children were risk assessed - red, amber, 
green in terms of those at more risk/vulnerable. 

 From September, schools have welcomed back pupils who have been keen to return and 
see their friends and other people.  Initially on their return, the impact of the pandemic on 
children being out of the school environment for so long was very apparent.  

 On their return in September, the children’s behaviour was very different.  Children were 
very aggressive and challenging with teachers being physically attacked.  They often 
absconded or escaped from school so teachers/staff frequently had to cajole children to 
return to school.  

 Across the Borough, teachers have expressed how they have never experienced 
anything like it and this dramatic change in behaviour.

 10 weeks on since their return back at school, children’s behaviour has massively 
improved.  The number of classes per day has increased due to cleaning/sanitising 
routines being required less frequently and everyone more familiar with the new routines 
and ‘bubbles’ etc.

 The impact of the pandemic on teachers, staff and Head teachers has been 
overwhelming at times and will wish to leave or retire early once the pandemic is over.

 Pupils across the Borough have welcomed being able to go back to schools as they can 
now regularly see their friends and other people. 

Riverside College
 6,000 students 16+ and 500 college staff back at the college.
 College have conducted internal COVID ‘track and trace’ and of the 6,500 pupils and 

college staff have had 160 cases to date. Staff cases were mostly support staff and not 
college tutors, which has enabled the courses to continue.

 Some of the challenges involved resolving issues for students related to the Calculated 
Grades (known as CAGS).

 Face to face enrolments were undertaken to ensure students were supported to make 
the right choices and enrolled onto the appropriate course - this took 10 days to complete. 

HBC Lead Member
 Tom acknowledged the inspiration, contribution and the hard work that everyone across 

the Borough has made during the pandemic.
 The work by everyone has been tremendous and wished to thank all partners/staff.

Page 20



5

Halton Youth Cabinet Ellis and Leah
 Zoom and Microsoft Teams has been used for virtual meetings and when possible social 

distancing meeting held in person.  
 Progress made on a number of projects across Halton, the Liverpool City Region and 

National, for example: 
o Producing an information pack for new HYC members;
o Make our Rights a Reality;
o Make Your Mark;
o MYP Elections;
o Support work for the commissioning of the new Halton Youth Services;
o Workshops and events to engage young people and recruit them into the HYC.

Ellis raised a couple of questions from HYC members:
 The vaccine roll out for young people within the Borough. Lee and Helen (NWBH) noted 

that the Government would be issuing national guidance on this and that partner agencies 
would follow the requirements in terms of priority groups etc for the vaccination 
programme.  

 Access to mental health support/services for young people – Helen advised that Halton 
CAMHS have no young people on any waiting lists currently.  That all referrals were 
allocated and support needs were being met, if HYC had any concerns she would be 
happy to meet outside of the meeting.

 Future agenda item request for transport links and affordability - this was agreed.

Children in Care Council and Young People
 Over the past eight months, young people have focussed on their school work. 
 The group have not met physically so contact has been maintained on a 2-weekly basis 

by phone and FaceTime video calls
 Young people would like to continue using these ways in the future.
 Contacts with social workers continued by phone and video phone calls 
 A CICC survey had been undertaken during the pandemic, the group have a few new 

members and are getting ready with plans for their Christmas party. 

Agreement of the Trust arrangements from 2021
All members agreed that the Trust structure previously agreed was still appropriate to introduce. 

The experiences/updates shared by the groups have highlighted the need to consider the 
different needs of each group to enable inclusive engagement to be effective.  For the Trust to 
fully involve and engage with our groups, we need to be mindful about meeting these 
communication needs.  Style/approach of meetings and producing child-friendly or easy-read 
inclusive documents, reports and information, which will need to be factored into our future Trust 
arrangements.  

The shared updates has also evidenced that as Trust partners, we have strengthened our 
support of each other during the pandemic and have continued to work together very well.  The 
creativity in doing things differently and the lessons learnt throughout the pandemic will be used 
to improve the way services are delivered going forward.

The Policy Team will begin preparation work with groups and members on the Children, Young 
People and Families Plan which is due for renewal from next year.  This work tie in with the new 
Trust structure/arrangements as they are introduced in 2021.

SEND work with parents/carers and young people that has been progressed by the Policy Team 
during the pandemic has identified an idea to be explored further to support inclusive 

Page 21



6

engagement for the Trust arrangements.  In working with Adults Social Care, Halton Speak Out 
supported young people with learning difficulties in a large group project, known as Positive 
Outcomes for People (POP).   POP meetings included professionals, parents/carers and young 
people that met as one group at the start/end of the meeting.  Members split into their own peer 
groups to enable focused discussions at the pace/style that met each groups’ needs.  Each peer 
group was supported by a facilitator (if needed) to feedback to the large group.  This breaks 
down barriers in communication whilst enabling participation and consultation.

Question Time-style events
 Current Trust membership will be invited to attend these during the year for age specific 

groups 1) Primary school age 2) Secondary school age and 3) Post 16/Riverside College.  
 Members will be kept informed by email of partnership matters and minutes of the meetings 

circulated for information.

Trust Executive Group 
 The first meeting to be set up for end of January/early February 2021
 Membership will comprise of senior leaders and group reps.  

Participation/Consultation Group 
 Membership will comprise of reps for parents/carers, young people and youth support 

workers will be supported by the Policy Team. 
 Prior to agreeing the final details/meeting dates for this group, the Policy Team will explore 

the POP group idea further and work closely with each group individually to develop and 
agree these arrangements.

Tom thanks members for attending and wished everyone a happy Christmas and New Year.

Page 22



REPORT TO: Children, Young People & Families 
Policy & Performance Board

DATE: 25th January 2021

REPORTING OFFICER: Strategic Director, People

PORTFOLIO: Children, Education & Social Care

SUBJECT: Halton Local Area SEND Strategy 2021-25

WARD(S) All

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 To advise the board on the consultation and scope of the proposed 
local area SEND Strategy for 2021-2024.  A Powerpoint 
presentation highlighting the proposals for the draft strategy and 
outlining the consultation will be presented to the Board.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That Members of the Policy and 
Performance Board:

i) are asked to consider the presentation and raise any 
questions they may have on the draft SEND strategy and 
current arrangements for consultation.

ii) request annual progress updates on the delivery of the 
SEND strategy to ensure that leaders remain informed and 
able to enquire and intervene as deemed necessary.

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION

3.1 The Children and Families Act 2014 and SEND Code of Practice 
2015 set out the statutory requirements and practice required from 
local areas to meet the needs of children and young people (0-25) 
with special educational needs and/or disabilities (SEND).  

3.2 The SEND Code of Practice requires statutory bodies in local areas 
to work together to meet the education, health and care needs of 
children and young people with SEND.   The Halton SEND Strategy 
for 2021-25 therefore will be a joint strategy under the governance of 
the Halton Health and Wellbeing board and Children’s Trust and it is 
not the sole responsibility of Halton Borough Council to deliver.  

3.3 In the spirit of the legislation the draft strategy has been co-
produced in partnership with other statutory bodies from education 
and health including schools, and the CCG, as well as parent carer 
and young people’s representatives.

Page 23 Agenda Item 6a



3.4 Members will be provided with a full update by presentation at the 
Board meeting on 25th January 2021.

4.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS

4.1 None identified.

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 None identified.

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES

6.1 Children & Young People in Halton 

The purpose of the 2021-2025 Halton SEND Strategy is to improve 
outcomes for, and the lived experience of, children and young 
people with SEND and their families.  Currently children recognised 
as having a special educational needs and/or disability make up 
over 17% of the areas school age population therefore the strategy 
will make a significant contribution towards ensuring that Halton’s 
children and young people have the best possible start in life.

6.2 Employment, Learning & Skills in Halton 

Young people with SEND and Learning difficulties are 
disproportionately likely to be NEET or unemployed.  Elements of 
the strategy are aimed at improving employability and skills for these 
young people leading to meaningful employment.

6.3 A Healthy Halton

Children and young people with SEND are disproportionately likely 
to be overweight, lack opportunities to access healthy lifestyles and 
leisure activities and die young.  Improving health outcomes for 
these children and young people is a core objective of SEND 
Strategic Priority 3: Preparation for Adulthood.

6.4 A Safer Halton 

None identified.

6.5 Halton’s Urban Renewal

None identified.

7.0 RISK ANALYSIS

7.1 Without a coherent and joined up strategic approach to meeting the 
needs and improving the life outcomes and lived experience of 

Page 24



children and young people and their families it will be considerably 
more challenging for the local area to meet its statutory and morale 
duties.

7.2 Individual objectives within the strategy will in some cases contain 
projects that may require separate risk analysis.  Where this is the 
case these will be overseen by the SEND Strategic Partnership.

8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

8.1 Individual objectives within the strategy will in some cases contain 
projects that require separate and individual equality impact analysis 
and assessment as part of good practice.  Where this is the case 
these will be overseen by the SEND Strategic Partnership.

9.0

9.1

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

None.

Page 25



REPORT TO: Children, Young People and Families Policy & 
Performance Board

DATE: 25th January 2021

REPORTING OFFICER: Strategic Director, People

PORTFOLIO: Children, Young People and Families

SUBJECT: Headteacher of the Virtual School’s Annual Report 
for Halton Children in Care

WARD(S) All

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 To provide PPB with the Headteacher of the Virtual School’s annual 
report on the education outcomes and achievement of Halton 
Children in Care

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That:

i) PPB note the information provided.

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION

3.1 Please see the attached report for the detailed data, analysis and 
summary of the work of Halton Virtual School during the academic 
year 2019-20.

3.2 Due to the impact of the COVID 19 pandemic and the subsequent 
restrictions, the formal education of children in care was ceased on 
23rd March.  This resulted in the suspension of all Primary tests and 
a change to teacher assessment for the allocation of GCSE results.  
The requirement to attend school from 23rd March onwards was also 
altered and was determined by individual risk assessment.  All of the 
above therefore means that there can be no meaningful comparison 
between previous years and this year’s educational outcomes for 
children in care.

3.3 However, the work of the Virtual School has continued throughout 
the academic year and the annual report does provide details of how 
Halton Children in Care have been supported to mitigate against the 
impact of the COVID restrictions.  The report also provides a 
summary of the Virtual School’s progress towards it’s identified key 
priorities and the priorities identified for 2020-21.

3.4 Halton had an Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services 

Page 26 Agenda Item 6b



(ILACS) in February/March 2020.  Throughout the annual report the 
inspections findings are highlighted in relation to the educational 
outcomes for Halton Children in Care and also the work of the 
Virtual School.

4.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS

4.1 Please see below regarding national policy changes that will have 
implications for the support provided through Halton Virtual School.

5.0 OTHER/FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Halton Virtual School relies heavily on the use of Pupil Premium 
Plus funding from the Government to support the educational 
outcomes of Children in Care.  This includes support provided 
through the Personal Education Plan and Progress Coordinators 
and the ability to commission specialist psychological assessments, 
as well as direct curriculum support for the children and young 
people.  There is currently an agreement that this funding will remain 
in place until 2021 but that it will be reviewed to take into account 
other budgetary changes and pressures, particularly in light of the 
impact of the COVID pandemic.  

5.2 There is a major risk to the outcomes of our most vulnerable 
children if this funding ceases because Halton Virtual School will no 
longer be able to provide the high level and necessary educational 
support for our children in care.  Therefore, Council funding of at 
least the same level will need to be identified to mitigate against this.

5.3 Halton Virtual School continues to look to provide additional 
employment and training opportunities for Care Leavers through 
access to apprenticeships and work programmes.  There needs to 
be a review of funding opportunities to support these and also 
creative opportunities both within the Council and within local 
businesses. 

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES

6.1 Children & Young People in Halton 

The educational outcomes of Children in Care remain a key priority 
for the Council.

6.2 Employment, Learning & Skills in Halton 

If Children in Care do not achieve their expected educational 
outcomes, there is a high risk that they will become NEET and 
therefore not achieve employment which fulfils their aspirations or 
enables them to be active participants in the community.

Page 27



6.3 A Healthy Halton

Research has demonstrated that issues related to the emotional 
health and well-being have a significant impact upon the educational 
outcomes for Children in Care.  Timely and effective services are 
vital in providing emotional support for our young people to enable 
them to have positive engagement in their learning and achieve their 
potential.

6.4 A Safer Halton 

Due to their lived experiences Children in Care can be at higher risk 
of child sexual exploitation, and episodes of missing from care or 
school.  Research does indicate that these factors all have a 
negative impact upon educational outcomes for our children and 
young people in care.  Therefore, all agencies need to provide 
proactive support in order to keep children in care safe.

6.5 Halton’s Urban Renewal

None identified.

7.0 RISK ANALYSIS

7.1 If the outcomes for our Halton Children in are do not improve then 
there is a continued risk that they are more likely to become NEET 
and not become active and positive partners in their community.

8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

8.1 Children in Care continue to be a vulnerable group whose life 
experiences of trauma, neglect and abuse mean that they have not 
had the same start to life as other young people.

9.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

None.

Page 28



1

Visualise your 
dream

Dare to try

Learn to release 
your potential

Annual  Report

2019-20

Page 29



2

Contents

Executive Summary Pgs 3 - 6

Context Pgs 8 - 10

Profile and Demographics 2019-20 Pgs 11 - 20

How successful have our children in care been in 
2019-20?

Pgs 21 - 35

Personal Education Plans Pgs 36 - 40

Pupil Premium Plus Grant Pgs 41 - 43

Additional work of Halton Virtual School Pgs 44 - 49

Key Priorities for 2020-21 Pg 50 - 51

Page 30



3

Executive Summary
This report provides an overview of the work of the Virtual School within the academic year 2019-
20.  

Where we were in 2018-19 

Summary of performance against Key Priorities 

  = Good Performance
≈ = there is some improvement but there is still concern
× = an area of underperformance

Priority Achieved Analysis
Close the attainment gap between Halton 
children in care and their non-care 
experienced peers, with a particular focus 
on those in Key Stage 4.

× This remained an area of focus as there 
was under performance in GLD and 
Maths across the Key Stages.

Improve the quality of Personal Education 
Plans, with a particular focus on target 
setting and impact measures for Pupil 
Premium Plus.

≈ Whilst the quality of the PEPs 
completed had improved, target 
setting and Pupil Premium Plus impact 
were still not consistent.  In addition 
completion at Early Years and Post 16 
was variable.

Improve the focus on Post 16 outcomes by 
supporting social care colleagues to 
complete the Post 16 Personal Education 
Plans and develop more robust tracking 
systems for engagement in Education, 
Employment and Training (EET).

≈ Post 16 PEP completion remained 
variable due to capacity issues within 
social care.  16-19 year olds 
engagement in EET remained good, but 
19 – 22 year olds were more likely to 
be Not to be engaged in EET (NEET).

Reduce the length and frequency of fixed 
term exclusions for Halton children in care 
by challenging exclusions given, to ensure 
they are appropriate and proportionate, 
ensuring support is in place to reduce the 
likelihood of repeat occurrences and further 
embed an understanding of trauma related 
behaviour within our schools.

≈ Training from the Virtual School was 
tailored specifically around developing 
strategies to meet the social, 
emotional and behaviour needs of 
children in care.  Whilst this will take 
time to embed there were positive 
signs of impact on duration and 
frequency of exclusions.

Appoint two highly qualified senior leaders 
from Primary and Secondary phases as PEP 
and Progress Coordinators.

 PEP and Progress Coordinators came 
into post Nov 2018 and January 2019.   
There was positive impact on PEP 
completion and overall quality.

Review our support for Care Leavers with a 
particular focus on sustaining engagement 
to education and apprenticeships.

≈ A review was undertaken which 
resulted in a realignment of the roles 
and responsibilities within the Virtual 
School and a dedicated member of the 
team was allocated a direct case load 
of care leavers at risk of becoming 
NEET.  A review of other LA approaches 

Page 31



4

was also undertaken and 
recommendations for an improved 
model of support was presented to 
Chief Officer’s Management Team for 
consideration.

What we did this year in 2019-20

Summary of performance against the Key Priorities identified for the current academic year

The academic year 2019-20 was severely interrupted by the COVID 19 pandemic which resulted in 
schools closing on 23rd March 2020 and not fully re-opening for the remainder of the school year.  
This has obviously impacted upon progress towards the key priorities that had been identified.  
Where possible, a summary of the outcomes has been provided but due to the unprecedented 
circumstances it is not possible to compare this academic year with the previous year.

Below are the overarching key priorities identified for 2019-20.

  = Good Performance
≈ = there is some improvement but there is still concern
× = an area of underperformance

Priority Achieved Analysis
Close the attainment gap between Halton 
children in care and their non-care peers, 
with a particular focus on those in Key 
Stage 4.

≈ Due to COVID 19 restrictions only GCSE 
results were awarded and these were 
based on teacher assessments.  
Performance improved in all areas with 
the exception of the higher grades.  
This remains a focus for the Virtual 
School.

Improve the quality of Personal Education 
Plans, including Early Years and Post 16, 
with a particular focus on target setting, 
impact measures for Pupil Premium Plus 
and tracking the curriculum accessed.

≈ Due to COVID 19 formal education was 
suspended from March 2020, 
therefore, the PEPs were amended to 
reflect the new circumstances so a year 
on year comparison is not possible.  
Pupil Premium Plus was also not able 
to be utilised in the same way as no 
formal teaching was undertaken for 
the Spring and Summer terms.

Commission and conduct a Halton Virtual 
School Pupil Premium Plus Review to 
ascertain impact, areas of good practice 
and areas for development.

× Due to COVID 19 restrictions it was not 
possible to complete this.

Reduce the number of children in care 
receiving one or more fixed term exclusion, 
and the length and the frequency.

≈ Due to COVID 19 restrictions formal 
education was suspended from March 
2020.  However, for the time pupils 
were in school there was a reduction in 
exclusions for the Autumn and Spring 

Page 32



5

terms in comparison with the previous 
year.

Monitor and risk assess the progress of any 
child in care attending a school rated as 
Requires Improvement or below by Ofsted, 
including undertaking additional support 
and challenge visits to the school.

≈ Due to COVID 19 restrictions formal 
education was suspended from March 
2020 therefore progress measures 
cannot be compared across the years.  
However, challenge and support visits 
were undertaken in the academic year 
up to the suspension of formal 
education.

Develop a SEND dashboard in order to 
more effectively monitor the outcomes, 
support and quality of provision.

× Due to the suspension of formal 
education as a result of COVID 19 
restrictions progress and attendance 
outcomes for SEND pupils could not be 
formally monitored from March 2020.

Embed the direct working approach for 16 
– 19 year olds to continue to improve 
engagement in Education, Employment 
and Training with a particular focus on 
apprenticeships.

× COVID 19 restrictions and the loss of 
capacity within the Virtual School have 
impacted on progress in this area.

Within this academic year Ofsted conducted Halton’s Inspection of Children’s Services (ILACS) which 
encompassed the education of children and young people in care and care leavers.  Whilst no 
individual judgement is provided in this area, inspectors stated during feedback that:

 The overall work of the Virtual School is good.  
 The Virtual School has established a strong and positive team, with good communication links 

to Children Social Care.
 The Virtual School is held in very high regards by schools and that this was unanimous, 

including those out of borough.
 The Virtual School has an accurate picture of its strengths and areas of improvement.

They outlined 3 areas that the Virtual School needs to focus on – which have always been reflected 
in our key priorities:

 Improving outcomes at Key Stage 4
 Improving outcomes in Maths, which is also a borough wide priority.
 Improving apprenticeship opportunities.

The final report stated that (March 2020):

‘The virtual school has a positive presence and is held in high regard by schools. It has an 
accurate picture of strengths and areas for improvement, and a number of new initiatives have 
been implemented to improve educational outcomes for children in care. However, the impact 
of these initiatives is not yet evident, for example from the work to improve children’s 
attainment at key stage 4. Children’s personal education plans at key stage 1 and key stage 2 

Page 33



6

are completed thoroughly and well. However, children’s personal educational plans at other 
key stages are too variable, and some lack clear targets for improvement and do not support 
educational planning effectively. 

They (Care Leavers) have access to a broad range of services, and are supported well with 
education, employment or training needs, as well as emotional and physical health issues…. 
The local authority has plans to further improve the choice available for 16 to 18-year-old care 
leavers. There has been a reduction of care leavers in employment, education or training (EET). 
The local authority is seeking to improve the range of opportunities available.’

Other key performance during 2019-20:

The numbers of children having either a school and/or a placement move during the academic year 
has remained low.  This is as a result of good joint working between the Virtual School and social 
workers.

Monitoring of all other key indicators did continue throughout the academic year but this has been 
complicated by the COVID restrictions.  Nonetheless these outcomes remained positive for our 
children and young people in care.  

The Virtual School had planned a full training and activity programme and some events did take 
place up to February half term.  Since March 2020 it has not been possible to provide any face to 
face training or activity support due to COVID 19 restrictions.  However, virtual support has been 
provided to professionals and young people alike.  

Further details of how the Virtual School has responded to the COVID pandemic is covered in the 
sections within the report.

  What we will focus on in 2020-21 

Priority Rationale
To ensure that all Halton children in care 
continue to access their educational 
entitlement throughout the COVID 19 
pandemic.

Due to the COVID 19 pandemic children in care did 
not receive formal education from March 2020.  
This will have impacted upon their progress and 
overall engagement.  We need to ensure that all 
children in care return to school and are provided 
with all appropriate support to enable them to 
catch up on lost learning and continue making 
progress.

Close the attainment gap between Halton 
children in care and their non-care 
experienced peers, with a particular focus 
on achieving the higher grades in Key stage 
4.

It will be important to focus on all end of key stage 
results due to the loss of learning in 2019-20.  
Analysis at Key Stage 4 shows that improvements 
need to be made particularly in the number of 
young people achieving areas of English and Maths 
at the higher grades.

Improve the quality of Personal Education 
Plans, including Early Years and Post 16, 
with a particular focus on target setting, 

Ofsted highlighted the need to improve the quality 
of PEPs in Early Years and Post 16 and in the 
consistency of target setting at Key Stage 4. 

Page 34



7

impact measures for Pupil Premium Plus and 
tracking the curriculum accessed.

Commission and conduct a Halton Virtual 
School Pupil Premium Plus Review to 
ascertain impact, areas of good practice and 
areas for development.

It was not possible to achieve this in 2019-20 but it 
remains an important tool to understand how our 
use of Pupil Premium Plus can have greater impact 
on improving the outcomes for all children in care.

To continue to improve the number of 
secondary age young people in care having 
attendance above 95%

Whilst there has been improvement this year, it 
has been a different year for attendance.  We need 
to keep the focus on ensuring that our secondary 
age pupils are in school and learning.

Reduce the number of children in care 
receiving one or more fixed term exclusion, 
and the length and the frequency.

It will be important to monitor the impact of 
returning to education on the social, emotional and 
behavioural needs of children in care and to ensure 
that exclusions and lost learning is minimised.

Monitor and risk assess the progress of any 
child in care attending a school rated as 
Requires Improvement or below by Ofsted, 
including undertaking additional support 
and challenge visits to the school.

Ofsted inspections were suspended during COVID 
19 restrictions so our schools remain at the 
previous academic year judgements.  Once formal 
education has resumed it will be important to track 
the progress of those children in school that are 
judged below Good to ensure that they are being 
supported and making progress.

Develop a SEND dashboard in order to more 
effectively monitor the outcomes, support 
and quality of provision.

This was not completed during the previous 
academic year but will be a focus so we can more 
robustly monitor our SEND pupils as a discreet 
cohort.

Embed the direct working approach for 16 – 
19 year olds to continue to improve 
engagement in Education, Employment and 
Training with a particular focus on 
apprenticeships.

This was identified as an area of focus within our 
Ofsted inspection.  We need to both increase the 
capacity of the Virtual School and develop more 
robust strategies in terms of engagement in EET 
and particularly opportunities to take part in an 
apprenticeship.

Improve capacity within the Virtual School 
to extend the direct approach to include 19-
22 year old care leavers.

As above this was identified as an area of 
improvement within our Ofsted.

Page 35



8

Halton is a small borough which consists of two towns, Runcorn and Widnes.  The population is 
129,410 of which around 30,200 are children and young people.  

At the time of writing, the Index of Deprivation Measure (IDM) places Halton as 19th most deprived 
area nationally, a deterioration from previous IDMs.  Alongside this we have the 2nd highest national 
Free School Meal population for Primary and 10th highest for Secondary.  The local economy is 
amongst the fastest growing in the Liverpool City region, and has a good proportion of high value 
industries.  However, the educational profile of the borough is not at a level to take advantage of 
some of the job opportunities.

The purpose of the Virtual School is to enable all children and young people in care to Halton to 
become resilient and effective independent learners, so that they can achieve their full potential and 
become full and active participants in society.

Halton Virtual School Team

Headteacher of the 
Virtual School

Sharon Williams Core funded Education, Inclusion and Provision 
Directorate

PEP Coordinators
Primary
Secondary

Joanne Lloyd
Peter McPartland

Pupil Premium 
Plus

Co-located with Children in Care and 
Care Leavers Team, Children and 
Families Directorate

Education Support 
Worker

Min Ling Lee-Tai Core funded Co-located with Children in Care and 
Care Leavers Team, Children and 
Families Directorate

Post 16 Education 
Support Worker

Vacant Core funded Co-located with Children in Care and 
Care Leavers Team, Children and 
Families Directorate

The position of Post 16 Education Support Worker became vacant in March 2020 shortly before the 
COVID 19 pandemic measures were put in place.  As a result we have not been able to recruit to the 
post as yet.  However, it is a priority for the next academic year.

We have additional capacity provided via other education services:
 Named SEN Case Worker – provides support with EHCPs and finding appropriate specialist 

provision
 Named Education Welfare Officer – provides attendance alerts and advice
 Education Psychology – commissioned to provide training and advice for schools 

We support and promote the education of all children in care (CIC) to Halton regardless of where 
they are living or being educated, from the age of 3 until they have completed their formal 
education.    For the purposes of national performance reporting the cohort of children and young 
people consists of those that have been in care to Halton for at least 12 months from 31st March 
2020.  However, we do support, monitor and evaluate the educational outcomes of all children from 
the first day they enter care.  The following information is accurate at the end of the academic year 
2019-20:

CONTEXT

Page 36



9

282 CIC 
aged 3 - 
19 years

227 in care for 12m 
82th+

102 Primary
99 Secondary

School age
151 educated in 

Halton
59 educated outside 

of Halton

School age
129 in Foster Care          
30 in Residential 

40 in Family/friends
2 in other 

accommodation

131 female
151 male

School age
57 are on SEN Support

4 Undergoing 
statutory assessment

41 have an EHCP

33  Early Years
102 Primary

99 Secondary
48 16 - 19 years

71 Summer born

School age
9 have had missing 
from care episodes

6 had 1 or more 
school move                                   

34 had 1 or more 
placement move

Governance of the Virtual School is undertaken by the Children in Care and Care Leavers Partnership 
Board which has multi-disciplinary membership, including Headteacher representation and the 
Director of Children and Adults Services, and is chaired by the Lead Member for Children and Young 
People.  In addition further scrutiny and oversight is provided by Elected Members through the 
Children and Young People’s Policy and Performance Board. 

A key area for the Virtual School is to ensure that there is collaborative working with all services that 
help to support and promote the education of children in care and care leavers.  This includes 
professionals from Children’s Social Care, other services across the Local Authority, Schools, carers, 
key partners and most importantly the children and young people.  The Virtual School team achieves 
this by the following:

 Being fully active support members to the Children in Care and Care Leavers Council attending 
each session and regularly consulting with the members on educational issues.

 Membership of the Fostering Panel to ensure that providing support for education is a key part 
of carer’s assessments and when placing and matching children to carers.

 Membership of the Foster Carers Forum to ensure that any education related issues for foster 
carers can be addressed as they arise, including provision of training.

Page 37



10

 Membership of the Placement Resource Panel and the Out of Borough Resource Panel to 
ensure that education provision is not disrupted without the agreement of the Headteacher of 
the Virtual School and only in exceptional circumstances.

 Membership of the Emotional Health and Wellbeing Panel to ensure that support is provided 
both in school and at home.

 Membership and Chair of the North West Virtual Heads network groups focusing on sharing 
good practice, developing strategies to overcome shared challenges and plan effectively on a 
regional footing.

 Membership of Halton’s associations of Primary and Secondary Headteachers.

NOTE

Unless stated the data within this report covers ALL children in care in 2019-20 and not only those 
in care for 12 months or more.  The Attainment and Progress section focuses on the 12 month 
cohort only.

Page 38



11

Profile and Demographics
Joiners and Leavers

The total number of children in care continues to increase and at the end of the academic year 2019 
– 20 the total number was 282, 3 – 19 year olds; this is an 12.8% increase on the end of the previous 
academic year, 2018-19, which also had an 11.6% increase from 2017-18.  

For the school age cohort in August 2019- July 2020 there were 5 Primary aged children who came 
into care with only 1 leaving care.  There were 10 young people who came into care in the Secondary 
phase and 3 who returned home.  Years 9 and 10 had the most additions to their cohort.  This is 
significant as they are late entries into care who have had significant disruption due to the COVID 19 
restrictions along with their previous issues, which may impact negatively on their end of key stage 
outcomes. 

Yr Joiners Leavers Net
R 1 1 0
1 0 0 0
2 1 0 1
3 1 0 1
4 0 0 0
5 0 0 0
6 2 0 2
7 2 1 1
8 2 0 2
9 3 0 3
10 2 0 2
11 1 2 1

R 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Autumn Spring Summer

Mobility across the school age year groups 2019-20

Page 39



12

Placement and School Moves

The national research ’Education Matters in Care’ suggests that any placement move will have a 
detrimental impact on a child’s educational attainment unless it is carefully planned, timed and 
supported:

‘Being able to stay at the same school and avoid disruption to their education has a strong 
association with educational attainment for looked after children.’

In addition, Sonia Jackson’s research suggests that every school move sets a child back by at least 6 
months educationally.

Care Planning Regulations and the statutory duty on local authorities ‘Promoting the education of 
looked after and previously looked after children’ clearly state that:

 The views of the Headteacher of the Virtual School should be given appropriate weighting as 
part of any decisions on placement moves.

 When a child comes into care everything should be done to maintain the child’s existing school.
 Where this is not possible and there is a planned entry to care or placement move, then the 

school should be arranged at the same time as the care placement.
 If a child needs to move in an emergency and the existing school cannot be maintained, then a 

school should be sourced within 20 school days at the latest.
 A school with an Ofsted rating of Good or better should be prioritised when sourcing a new 

school for a child in care. 

Placement moves

There were 34 children and young people who had 1 or more placement move during the academic 
year 2019-20. This number is a reduction of 25 on the previous year, due in part to the impact of 
COVID 19 restrictions. Of these:

 25 had 1 placement move which in the majority of cases was related to moving to a long term 
placement.

 5 had 2 placement moves
 2 and 3 placement moves
 2 had 4 placement moves.

Page 40



13

Moves 4, 2YP
 6% Moves 3, 2YP

 6%

Moves 2, 5YP
 15%

Moves 1, 25YP
 73%

Moves 4, 2YP Moves 3, 2YP Moves 2, 5YP Moves 1, 25YP

The number of children in care who have had 1 or more placement 
moves in the academic year 2019-20

School moves

There were 7 children and young people who had a school move during the academic year, all only 
had 1 move in total.  In addition to this there were 2 young people who had prolonged periods of 
not being on roll at an education provision – for 1 young person this was as a result of a number of 
placement changes, whilst the other was an Unaccompanied Asylum Seeker who has very little 
English and therefore could not manage in mainstream provision. 

The calculation of the average days wait for a new school across the whole academic year has been 
complicated by the COVID 19 restrictions and the difficulties in accessing a new school placement.  
The average wait for a school place across the whole academic year was 31 days which is above the 
required 20 days, and impacted by the 2 young people not on roll.  The chart below shows the 
average wait across the terms for the last 3 academic years, but with no data recorded for Summer 
2020 due to COVID restrictions.

Page 41



14

Autumn Spring Summer
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Average days wait for children in care to access a school 
following a move 

 

There were 5 children and young people who had both a school and placement move during 2019-
20. Of these children:

 3 had 1 placement and 1 school move
 1 had 2 placements and 1 school move
 1 had 3 placement moves and 1 school move

The chart below shows the reasons for a school move taking place in 2018-19

OOB
 46%

Crisis
 36%

Secure
 9%

EHCP
 9%

Reasons for school moves for children in care in 2019-20

Page 42



15

School Phase

The chart below shows a breakdown of children in care by each national curriculum year group for 
the 2 past academic years 2017-18, 2018-19 and this current year 2019-20.  There are clear growth 
areas in pre-school aged children, and from Year 4 onwards, particularly in the older age groups.

Nursery R 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12&13
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Halton children in care at the end of an academic year over the past 3 
years

The chart below shows the percentage of children in care across the national curriculum year groups 
for the period of August 2018-July 2019

Nursery
 11% R

 3% Y1
 3% Y2

 5%Y3
 4%

Y4
 8%

Y5
 7%Y6

 7%
Y7

 7%

Y8
 4%

Y9
 9%

Y10
 7%

Y11
 8%

Y12&13
 17%

Nursery R Y1 Y2 Y3 Y4 Y5 Y6 Y7 Y8 Y9 Y10 Y11 Y12&13

Breakdown of children in care in each National Curriculum year group in 
2019-20

School Ofsted ratings

When a child comes into care it is not appropriate to simply move them from their school because 
the school is rated as less than Good.  However, Halton Virtual School does undertake a risk 

Page 43



16

assessment which takes into account knowledge of the school’s overall performance, pastoral 
support systems, the child’s progress and individual circumstances.  Once this risk assessment has 
been completed and the view of the Virtual School is that a school move would be appropriate in the 
best interests of the child, then discussions take place with the child’s social worker, parent/carer, 
and Independent Reviewing Officer and a supported transition plan is put in place.  

This same process is undertaken if a school has an adverse Ofsted inspection and judgement and 
children in care are currently on roll.

Whenever there is a decision that a child in care remains in a school that is rated as Requires 
Improvement or below, rigorous monitoring of the child’s progress and outcomes is undertaken, 
particularly through scrutiny of the Personal Education Plan.

All school moves for children in care must be agreed by the Headteacher of the Virtual School prior 
to the move taking place, unless in emergency and exceptional circumstances.  When a request for a 
school move is made, the Virtual School complete an analysis of any recent Ofsted inspections of 
possible schools, speak to key staff including the Designated Teacher and where appropriate other 
local authority Virtual Schools.  This is to ensure that the school chosen can meet all of the child’s 
needs. 

When a child is transitioning into Reception or to secondary school, the Virtual School provide advice 
and guidance to social workers and carers to ensure that all children are placed in suitable provision, 
with priority being given to schools that are judged as Good or better.  The Headteacher of the 
Virtual School makes the final decision.

At the recent ILACS inspection the inspectors recognised that as a result of the actions taken by the 
Virtual School, there has been good improvement in the number of children in care attending 
schools judged to be good or better by Ofsted.

Outcomes pre-COVID 2019-20:

As a result of the COVID 19 pandemic, Ofsted suspended all their inspections as schools were closed 
to formal education but provided child care from March 23rd until the end of the summer term.  
Therefore, the Ofsted gradings used in this report are up to that date.

The chart below covers the Ofsted ratings of all schools attended by children in care in Halton and 
out of borough.

Page 44



17

Outstanding, 23%

[CATEGORY 
NAME], [VALUE]

Requires 
Improvement, 9%

Special Measures, 
8%

2019-20 Ofsted ratings until 23rd March for schools attended 
by Halton children in care

83% of children in care across both phases are attending schools that are judged to be Good or 
better. This is a significant increase of 14% from the previous year and also an increase of 11.5% 
from 2017-18.  This improvement has come about because of the work that the Virtual School 
undertakes in sourcing the best school for our children and young people , this figure rises 94.5% for 
those educated outside of Halton and has also seen an increase of 5.5%.  However, we do need to be 
mindful of the fact that this does not include the summer term as no judgements were made. 

Key priority for 2020-21

 Monitor and risk assess the progress of any child in care attending a school rated as Requires 
Improvement or below by Ofsted, including undertaking additional support and challenge 
visits to the school.

Key actions for 2020-21:

 Through termly tracking identify all schools’ whose Ofsted judgement has changed and PEP 
and Progress Coordinator will then arrange a challenge and support visit to discuss progress 
of the children attending that school.

 The Virtual School will continue to work closely with social workers and carers in 
discussions around school admissions and transitions to ensure that children in care 
are only placed in schools that are Requires Improvement in exceptional 
circumstances.

 Work closely with our ASIAs to ensure that Requires Improvement or below schools 
are making progress to achieve a better Ofsted judgement.

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities

Children in care are significantly more likely to have additional needs than their non-care 
experienced peers, and are more likely to have an Education, Health and Care Plan.

Page 45



18

As corporate parents Halton SEND services and the Virtual School have agreed that we need to 
retain responsibility for our most vulnerable children in care who are living outside of Halton but not 
in a stable placement and are in need of a statutory assessment.  In these circumstances the Virtual 
School commission the Education Psychology Service to undertake the assessments and an SEN 
Caseworker is allocated to ensure the assessment is completed at least within the statutory 
timeframe.  This decision has been made to ensure that the assessment process is not disrupted 
should the placement breakdown and to minimise the number of local authorities involved in 
completing the assessment.  For all other children placed outside of Halton in stable placements it is 
the resident authority that undertake the assessment as per the Belongings Regulations.

There is a named SEN Caseworker and link Education Psychologist for each school within Halton and 
they monitor children in care as part of their discussions with schools.  In addition to this the Virtual 
School has a named SEN Caseworker whose focus is those placed out of borough and on an EHCP.  
The case worker ensures that provision and targets within the EHCP are aligned with the termly 
Personal Education Plan.

In order to ensure that children in care have early identification of their needs and appropriate 
timely support, the Virtual School have commissioned bespoke children in care psychology time and 
this is used to support our most vulnerable children who require statutory assessment but are being 
educated out of Halton, and this time is also used for joint support and challenge meetings between 
schools, the school EP and the PEP and Progress Coordinator.  This ensures that children in care are 
discussed on at least a termly basis and the graduated approach is implemented in a timely manner.  
This creative and innovative approach was recognised as good practice during our recent ILACS 
inspection.

In addition to the above the Virtual School have also commissioned training from the Education 
Psychology Service based on needs identified by Designated Teachers.  This creative approach was 
acknowledged as a strength in the feedback during our ILACs inspection in March 2020.

The following charts compare the percentage of Halton children in care accessing SEND support and 
on an EHCP with their national in-care peers, and the primary reason for those who have an EHCP.

Page 46



19

Cognition and 
Learning, 12%

Communication 
and Interaction, 

32%

Sensory and 
Physical, 12%

SEMH, 44%

Children in Care who have an EHCP by Primary Need in 2019-20

These categories are broadly similar to the previous academic year.  

Work undertaken by the Virtual School during the COVID restrictions: 

 We have ensured that despite the challenging situation there has been no drift where 
applications for an EHCP have needed to be made or whilst the child or young person is 
undergoing statutory assessment.  This has been facilitated by the PEP Coordinators and by our 
commissioned EP support. 

 The Virtual School had to suspend the pilots on implementing an Adverse Childhood 
Experiences approach in 2 schools and also the Pivotal approach within 4 schools due to the 
COVID restrictions.  

 Whilst a joint approach with our SEND Commissioning Service to quality assurance our out of 
borough provision was developed, this was also impacted by COVID restrictions. 

Key Priority for 2020-21

 Develop a SEND dashboard in order to more effectively monitor the outcomes, support and 
quality of provision.

Key Actions 2020-21

 Continue with the joint school, EPS and Virtual School SEND support and challenge meetings 
with targeted Halton Primary and all Secondary schools to address early identification of need.  
This will ensure that schools are assessing needs and under performance early, providing 
appropriate and timely support and requesting statutory assessment without delay as 
determined by evidence.

 Resume implementation of an Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) approach within two 
schools to develop whole school understanding and strategies to meet the SEMH needs of 
children in care. 

 Resume implementation of a PIVOTAL approach to behaviour management support within 4 
schools so that SEMH needs of children are more effectively identified and managed without 
escalation to exclusion.  

Page 47



20

 More robustly monitor SEND provision and related under performance through the termly 
Personal Education Plans, including challenging schools to request statutory assessment in a 
timely manner.

 Continue to provide training to develop understanding and awareness of the additional needs 
and impact of trauma on the learning of children in care.

 Resume implementation of a robust quality assurance process of all out of borough specialist 
provision attended by Halton children in care.

Page 48



21

How academically successful have our 
children in care been in 2019-20?
Attainment and Progress

Whilst the Virtual School scrutinises and monitors the performance of all children in care to Halton, 
there is only a statutory requirement to nationally report on educational outcomes for those who 
have been in care for 12 months or more.  The data within this section refers only to those children 
and young people who meet this statutory requirement.

Due to very small cohorts caution is needed in interpreting the educational outcomes for Halton 
children in care.  Although the data may indicate differences between previous years the low 
numbers make it difficult when making comparisons or looking for generalisations across the 
cohorts. 

Total numbers of children in care for 12 months covering all key stages
Year 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20
Number 61 69 72 52

What is a good educational outcome?

Contextual:

That a child has been in care for at least 12 months, living in a stable placement, with at least 95% 
attendance at a Good or better school, with no fixed term exclusions, and making at least the 
expected progress in comparison to their peers.

At Early Years Foundation Stage:

 A child has achieved the measure of Good Level of Development (GLD)

At Year 1 Phonics:

 A child has achieved the threshold of 32 or more in the Phonics test

At Key Stage 1:

 A child has achieved the Expected Standard in each subject area (Reading, Writing, and Maths) 
and in the 3 combined areas (RWM).

At Key Stage 2:

 A child has achieved the Expected Standard in each subject area (Reading, Writing, and Maths) 
and in the 3 combined areas (RWM).  In addition the child had made at least their expected 
progress in Reading, Writing and Maths, from their educational starting point at Key Stage 1 
(this indicated by a positive number).

Page 49



22

At Key Stage 4:

 A young person has achieved English and Maths at grade 5 or above and that they have 
achieved highly on Attainment 8 and have a positive Progress 8 score.

Attendance and Exclusions:

 A child or young person’s attendance has been above 90% for the academic year (the 
Persistent Absence benchmark).  However, Halton Virtual School have set an attendance target 
of above 95% for the academic year as an internal measure of success.  

 In addition they have had no fixed term exclusions or been permanently excluded from school.

EET:

 A young person should be actively engaged in Education, Employment or Training (EET) from 
the age of leaving school until at least 19 years old.

Educational performance across the Key Stages for children in care for 12 months or more 
in 2019-20

In the ILACs inspection in March 2020 the inspectors commented on the following areas from the 
previous year’s results and analysis:

 Progress in Maths is low, however, this has been recognised by the Virtual School and is also an 
LA wide issue

 Outcomes in KS1 and 2 are generally good, particularly compared to other LA children in care 
and children in care nationally.  

 KS4 outcomes are weaker and lower than national for children in care.  However, the Virtual 
School has also recognised this as an area for improvement.

 Although no pupils achieved the combined English and Maths at grade 5, this was in line with 
expectations for the cohort.

Strategies to address the feedback above were in already in place, however, due to the COVID 19 
pandemic formal education was suspended from 23rd March 2020 and schools provided child care 
support only.  As a result the Government decided not to hold the end of Key Stages tests in Primary 
schools and not to award any teacher assessments either.  Therefore, there has been no 
requirement for schools to provide data for Early Years Foundation Stage Good Level of 
Development, Y1 or Y2 Phonics, end of Key Stage 1 or end of Key Stage 2.

The Government did decide that results would be provided for those pupils who should have taken 
GCSEs at the end of Year 11.  This was done using teacher assessments and then via an Ofqual 
algorithm to enable the results to be standardised nationally.

The Virtual School liaised closely with all secondary schools to ensure that the teacher assessments 
provided took into account, where possible and appropriate, the extenuating circumstances that 
some of our young people had been facing throughout the academic year.

Page 50



23

Key Stage 4

There were 16 young people in the cohort who had been in care for 12 months or more:

 10 of whom were female.  
 13 were educated in Halton schools. 
 12 schools attended by Halton young people in care in Y11 were rated as Good or better by 

Ofsted.  
 12.5% had an EHCP, 12.5% were educated in non-mainstream provision.  
 12.5% were placed in residential provision, 1 was out of borough, and 6.25% were placed with 

parents. 
 In Year 11, 37.5% had attendance below 95%, with 31.25% of this group being below 90%.  
 Across Key Stage 4, 5 young people had attendance below 95% both years and of this group, 4 

young people had attendance below 90% for both years.  
 1 young person was unable to access full time provision based on a psychology assessment, 1 

young person was pregnant and was due to give birth at the point of her exams, the remaining 
young people had unauthorised absences.   

 37.5% had periods of fixed term exclusions during Key Stage 4, with 1 young person having 18 
days of lost learning through exclusion.  

 2 young people were placed on alternative provision and 3 young people had periods on a 
reduced timetable to stabilise their education as they were at high risk of permanent exclusion.  

 3 young people had a school move during KS4, 2 in Y10 as a result of moving out of borough 
and 1 young person in Y11 following a move back to live with parents.  

Due to the way the GCSE grades were awarded this year there cannot be a like for like comparison 
with previous years.  However, performance did show that young people did achieve in line with 
their PEP predictions.

2019-20 E4+ E5+ M4+ M5+ EM4+ EM5+ SC4+ SC5+ 5GCSEs 
EM4+

5GCSEs 
EM4+

5GCSEs 
4+

5GCSEs 
5+

% CIC 
achieving

29 6 18 6 18 0 18 6 18 0 18 0

Summary

≈ Attainment Improvements were made in all areas with the exception of 
Maths at grade 4.  However, there are still no young people in 
care in Halton achieving the combined English and maths at 
grade 5.  This is a priority focus for the next academic year.

What the Virtual School has done and its impact:

 Scrutinised the appropriateness of the targets within each PEP and ensured that the Pupil 
Premium Plus funding had impact.

 The Secondary PEP and Progress Coordinator held termly challenge visits with schools to 
discuss individual young people’s progress and the impact of Pupil Premium Plus interventions.  

Page 51



24

This ensured that the interventions were targeted at the areas of development identified 
through their outcomes.

 Progress Improvement Clinics were chaired by the Director of Children’s and Adults Services 
with the aim of removing any barriers to Key Stage 4 young people making the maximum 
progress they can.  

 Provided one-to-one tuition on core subjects when identified as an area of development in the 
PEP.

 Ensured that young people attended high quality alternative provision that meets their long 
term aspirations.

 Maintained contact with the young people and their carers to ensure that all resources and 
support were made available as required.

 Provided appropriate IT equipment to enable the young people to continue to access learning 
remotely.

Other work undertaken by the Virtual School to promote continued engagement with learning 
during the COVID restrictions:

 Virtual School have been working with carers and schools to ensure that children and young 
people in care have been able to access learning online during the COVID restrictions.

 The Virtual School worked to ensure that as many children and young people in care as possible 
were provided with a DfE laptop and router as required.  Along with the IT equipment that the 
Virtual School have already provided this now means that only a very small number of children 
who have complex needs do not have IT access – the Virtual School are looking into purchasing 
the correct equipment for these children so that they do not miss out.

Key Priorities 2020-21:

 Ensure that all Halton children in care continue to access their educational entitlement 
throughout the COVID 19 pandemic 

 Close the attainment gap between Halton Children in Care and their non-care experienced 
peers, with a particular focus on Key Stage 4.

Key actions for 2020-21:

 Provide support for those young people who will need to re-sit their English and Maths GCSEs
 Strengthen transition support from the end of the secondary phase to post 16 to ensure that all 

appropriate support is put in place to maintain post 16 engagement.
 Further develop our training offer for foster carers to support learning at home – this is via an 

online learning platform which provides bespoke learning linked to the individual child in 
placement.  This will enable the foster carer and child to focus on all the core subjects.

 Strengthen our Key Stage 3 and 4 Activity Programme and look to develop a remote learning 
approach to support the current situation.

 Undertake question level analysis with our Primary and Secondary schools to ensure that our 
children and young people are ready and prepared for the examinations.

 Work with our Secondary schools to conduct ‘deep dives’ to gain a greater understanding of 
why our KS4 pupils are not achieving the higher grades.

Page 52



25

Attendance and Exclusions

NOTE: The data presented in this section covers all children in care through the academic year of 
2019-20 up until 23rd March when formal education was suspended due to COVID regulations.  
Attendance was still monitored after this point but was subject to individual risk assessments.

Regular school attendance is a key part of giving any child the best possible start in life.  However, it 
is highly likely that a child who comes into care has already missed some time in school, and for 
some this is a considerable amount.  Therefore, it is vital that children in care are supported to 
achieve regularly to mitigate against the impact of previously lost learning.  Government research 
has shown that:

 14 days absence across Years 3 – 6 (Key Stage 2) makes it less likely for a child to achieve the 
expected standards in their subjects.  (This equates to 84 lessons missed)

 7 days across Years 10 and 11 (Key Stage 4) reduces the prospects of the young person 
achieving 5 GCSEs at Level 5 or above. (This equates to 42 lessons missed)

Attendance 
during one 
school year

Equivalent days Equivalent 
sessions

Equivalent weeks Equivalent 
lessons missed

95% 9 days 18 sessions 2 weeks 54 lessons
90% 19 days 38 sessions 4 weeks 114 lessons
85% 29 days 58 sessions 6 weeks 174 lessons
80% 38 days 72 sessions 8 weeks 228 lessons
75% 48 days 96 sessions 10 weeks 288 lessons
70% 57 days 114 sessions 11.5 weeks 342 lessons
65% 67 days 134 sessions 13.5 weeks 402 lessons

Halton Virtual School commission a company ‘Welfare Call’ to monitor the attendance and 
exclusions of all Halton children in care regardless of where they are educated.  This is done by daily 
contact with all schools and alternative providers to ensure that attendance is tracked and recorded 
appropriately and to comply with safeguarding procedures. 

Whilst the DfE have determined below 90% attendance to constitute persistent absence, Halton 
Virtual School monitor both below 90% and 95% attendance.

Attendance 2019-20:

Given the COVID restrictions and the suspension of formal education from 23rd March 2020 it is not 
possible to undertake a comparison with previous years.

The Virtual School maintained Welfare Call monitoring attendance processes pre-COVID, but 
developed a more bespoke approach during the lockdown period until the end of the summer term.  
The data in this section covers all children in care during that time.  For the COVID data the average 
percentage attendance is based on the number of children in care whose risk assessment allowed 
them to attend school during the restrictions.

Page 53



26

2019-20 Pre-COVID attendance analysis shows:

Average 5 attendance Primary Secondary Overall
Autumn 2019 95.7 88.3 92
Spring 2020 – Pre-COVID 94.9 82.2 91.1

20 Primary children had attendance below 95% - of this cohort; 

 12 children live with parents/family members 
 2 came into care during the academic year
 The main reasons for absence were illness (187 days lost learning) and unauthorised absences 

(57.5 days lost learning)
 11 children had authorised absences (51 days lost learning).  
 1 child had 7 days not on roll due the family moving out of borough and not securing a school 

place at the same time. 
 3 children had a holiday in term time (19 days lost learning)
 1 child also received fixed term exclusions (6.5 days lost learning)

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Individual Primary children in care's attendance in 2019-20 pre-
COVID restrictions (23rd March 2020)

Individual children in care

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 a

tt
en

da
nc

e

30 secondary pupils had attendance below 95% - of this cohort:

 6 young people live with parents/family and 14 are placed in residential settings
 2 young people came into care during the academic year.
 The main reasons for absence were unauthorised (506 days lost), illness (78 days lost) and 

authorised absences (65.5 days lost)
 23 young people had unauthorised absences.  12 of these live in residential accommodation, 6 

are with family and 2 were new into care.

Page 54



27

 15 young people had authorised absences.  2 were new into care and 7 live in residential 
accommodation.

 5 young people had periods of not being on roll, 2 of these were due to extended missing from 
care episodes, 1 was released from secure provision, 1 was an Unaccompanied Asylum Seeker 
who has very little English and could not manage in mainstream school at this time and the 
other young person has complex needs and has had a number of placement changes.

 5 young people had periods of reduced timetables to stabilise their education placements due 
to high risk of exclusion

 10 young people had exclusions (60 days lost learning)

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Individual Secondary young people in care's attendance in 2019-
20 pre-COVID restrictions (23rd March 2020)

Individual children in care

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 a

tt
en

da
nc

e

For the academic year 2019-20 attendance during COVID restrictions (23rd March – 17th July 2020):

During the COVID restrictions, the Virtual School worked with Children’s Social Care and schools to 
ensure that there was an individual risk assessment around the appropriateness of the children to 
attend school.  This was regularly reviewed throughout the Spring and Summer Terms.  

Work to support attendance undertaken by the Virtual School during the COVID restrictions:  

 The Virtual School was proactive in encouraging all our children and young people in care to 
access school throughout this period in line with DfE guidance.  The PEP Coordinators in 
particular provided a bridge of communication and facilitation between schools, carers and 
social workers and they coordinated bespoke planned returns to school. This is regardless of 
where the child was placed or being educated. 

 For children in care with an EHCP the Virtual School was involved in their risk assessment 
alongside the SEN Assessment Team, and when appropriate in planning the child’s return to 
school. 

Page 55



28

 The PEP Coordinators had daily attendance and keeping in touch phone calls with our out of 
borough schools in particular to ensure that both attendance was happening and also to ‘nip in 
the bud’ any developing issues.

Both Halton and out of borough schools have provided very positive feedback about the level of 
proactive support from the Virtual School both to the child/young person and also to the school 
itself.  Feedback from out of borough schools has also shown that Halton Virtual School have 
ensured that our children accessed their educational entitlement in line with DfE COVID 19 guidance, 
which was not always replicated by others.

Primary Secondary OverallAttendance of CIC during 
COVID restrictions Spring Summer Spring Summer Spring Summer
Total in cohort 98 101 96 98 194 199
RA – Not to attend 78 26 82 55 160 81
RA – Should Attend 20 75 14 43 34 118
Average % Attendance 75% 77.2% 71.9% 64.3% 73.5% 71%
# = 0% attendance 4 3 3 4 7 7
# = 100% attendance 13 28 8 13 21 41

Attendance  Prior to the COVID restrictions overall attendance has remained 
above 90% which is the DfE benchmark for persistent absence.  
During the COVID restrictions overall attendance was above 70%.

Exclusions

There have been no permanent exclusions of a child in care since the Headteacher of the Virtual 
School has been in post and this was highlighted as a positive in the ILACS inspection in March 2020.

Due to the COVID restrictions introduced on 23rd March 2020 the DfE suspended the use of 
exclusions from that point onwards until the end of the academic year.  This means that a year on 
year comparison is not possible.  However, the chart below shows the days learning lost as a result 
of fixed term exclusions received by children in care up to that point

Page 56



29

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16
0

5

10

15

20

Learning days lost for children in care who received fixed term 
exclusions during 2019-20 up to COVID restrictions 23rd 

March 2020

Individual children in care

Le
ar

ni
ng

 d
ay

s l
os

t

Exclusions ≈ There has been a decrease in the number of Primary children 
receiving fixed term exclusions.  However, in the secondary phase, 
there is an increase in the proportion of girls receiving fixed term 
exclusions.  Analysis has shown that the behaviours are 
predominantly related to emotional and anxiety needs.

Analysis for all children in care in 2019-20 up to 23rd March 2020 shows:

2 Primary children had 1 or more periods of fixed term exclusions

 Both were educated out of borough.
 1 had an EHCP for SEMH needs (Number 2 on the chart above).
 1 was living with family (Number 2 on the chart above)
 The total number of days learning lost was 7.5.
 There has been a decrease in the number of Primary children compared to the same period last 

academic year.

12 Secondary pupils had 1 or more periods of fixed term exclusions:

 5 young people attended Halton schools and 7 were educated out of borough.
 1 was new into care during the academic year (numbers 13 on the chart above)
 3 have an EHCP for SEMH (numbers 9 and 14 on the chart above)
 5 were living in residential care and 4 was placed with family (numbers 3, 4, 9, 11 and 6, 12, 13 

and 14 respectively on the chart above)
 8 were girls, 4 of whom were in Y10 and 11 (numbers 8, 9, 10 and 11 in the chart above) 
 4 were boys, 2 in Y9 and 2 in Y10 (numbers 4, 6, 7 and 14 in the chart above)
 The total number of learning days lost was 61 days, 45 of these are for Key Stage 4 pupils.

Page 57



30

What the Virtual School has done and its impact:

 Provided support and advice to schools who were experiencing difficulties managing 
challenging behaviour.

 Provided tailored packages of support to high risk pupils
 Provided attendance support through Pupil Premium Plus 
 Commissioned specialist assessments to support schools to meet the needs of complex 

children
 Supported schools to undertake the graduated approach in relation to SEMH needs.
 Provided ongoing training to increase awareness and improve practice in meeting the needs of 

children with attachment difficulties

6 pupils received fixed term exclusions of under 3 day’s duration and a further 3 receiving exclusions 
below 5 days.  This means that whilst pupils did receive exclusions on average the lost learning time 
across the cohort was low.

Key Priorities 2020-21:

 To continue to improve the number of secondary age young people in care having attendance 
above 95%

 Reduce the number of children in care receiving one or more fixed term exclusion, and the 
length and frequency

Key actions 2020-21:

 Continue to work with the Education Welfare Officer (EWO) to provide early alerts of any child 
who has had more than 3 days absence and those whose attendance is falling below 95%.  The 
EWO will provide advice and guidance to carers around proactive support for attendance and 
also liaise with a school link EWO to ensure that issues related to school are addressed.

 Resume our work on developing 2 Adverse Childhood Experiences Aware (ACEs) schools which 
will focus on increasing awareness of the impact of ACEs and toxic stress and the impact they 
have on a child’s resilience and ability to learn.

 Resume our work with the Behaviour Support Service to implement the PIVOTAL Approach to 
managing behaviour within 4 pilot schools.

 Work with our secondary schools to develop more bespoke and proactive support for children 
in care who are presenting with behaviour issues, particularly girls who are experiencing 
emotional and anxiety related issues.

Accessing Alternative provision

The Bridge School (Halton’s PRU) provide an Engagement Programme for Y10 and Y11 young people 
who require access to alternative provision.  This alternative provision is quality assured by The 
Bridge School.

Page 58



31

If a school purchases alternative provision placements for young people with providers who are not 
part of The Bridge School Engagement Programme, then it is the school’s responsibility to quality 
assure the provision.  

Agreement must be gained from the Headteacher of the Virtual School prior to a young person in 
care being placed on alternative provision.  This is to ensure that the provision will meet the 
educational needs of the young person and their long term aspirations.  Scrutiny of the outcomes of 
these young people is undertaken through the termly Personal Education Plan.

Any alternative provision that is not through the Engagement Programme is quality assured by the 
Secondary PEP and Progress Coordinator.  If the provision is via the Engagement Programme the 
Secondary PEP and Progress Coordinator liaises with The Bridge School to ascertain quality 
assurance outcomes.

Access to alternative provision 2019-20:

Due to COVID restrictions and the suspension of formal education, access to alternative provision 
ceased from 23rd March 2020.  However, up to that date, there were 7 young people who accessed 
alternative provision at some point during 2019-20, with 6 of those accessing during both terms.   6 
of the young people were accessing the alternative provision to enhance their skills and for post 16 
progression, with the final young person having access as part of a re-integration programme to 
mainstream school.

Post 16 Access to Education, Employment and Training

The Virtual School provide support and guidance for all young people in care or care leavers up to 
the age of 25 around access to Education, Employment and Training (EET), and their social workers 
or PAs as appropriate.  However, in terms of more intensive support this has been focused on 16 – 
19 years olds due to capacity within the Virtual School.  

Planned transition meetings during the Spring and Summer terms take place between the Secondary 
PEP and Progress Coordinator and the Post 16 Education Support Worker (ESW) for early 
identification of those leaving school who may become Not engaged in Education, Employment and 
Training (NEET).

Monthly tracking is undertaken by the Post 16 ESW to ensure that there are early alerts for young 
people who are at risk of becoming NEET as well as those currently NEET.  Within the 16 – 19 year 
old cohort the Post 16 ESW provides direct support by gathering the views of the young person as to 
any barriers to engagement and ensuring that their views are heard when formulating a plan for re-
engagement.  The Post 16 ESW also liaises with the 14-19 team if the young person is resident in 
Halton and their equivalents out of area, other agencies, providers and social workers and PAs. 

Creating the right apprenticeship opportunities and support structure remains a struggle for us in 
the current financial and political climate.

Our ILACS inspection in March 2020 highlighted Post 16 outcomes as an area of development for the 
Council.  At that time the inspectors reported the following:

Page 59



32

 The Virtual School focus on 16 – 19 year olds is having a positive impact.
 However NEET figures for 19 – 22 year olds is low in comparison.  There are capacity issues 

within the Virtual School which make it challenging to support a broader strategy to improve 
the outcomes of this group

 Uptake on apprenticeships is at early stages of improvement.
 A comparative review of the performance of pupils remaining in care and leaving care would be 

useful for future learning.

As a result of COVID restrictions, college courses, apprenticeship and traineeships were suspended 
alongside formal education from 23rd March.  In addition to this the member of staff whose role was 
focused on Post 16 and EET left the LA.  All of this has impacted upon our monitoring of our post 16 
young people and on their outcomes.

Pre-COVID 2019 – 20, 16-19 year old cohort:

There overall cohort is 48 young people of which 63% are EET

Educa
tio

n

Employm
ent

Trai
ning

Ove
ral

l E
ET

NEET
0

10
20
30
40
50
60
70

Percentage of 16-19 year old 
young people in care and care 

leavers in Education, 
Employment and Training in 

2019-20

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

There are 18 young people who are NEET

Male

NiC Y11
OOB

EHCP
YOS

Fa
mily

 

Resid
entia

l

Sta
yin

g p
ut/s

upporte
d 

lodgin
gs

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70

Context of 16 - 19 year old young 
people in care and care leavers in 

2019-20

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f c
oh

or
t

Male

NiC Y11
OOB

EHCP
YOS

Fa
mily

 

Resid
entia

l

Sta
yin

g p
ut/s

upporte
d 

lodgin
gs

0

20

40

60

80

Context of 16-19 year old young 
people in care and care leavers 

who are NEET in 2019-20

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f N
EE

T 
co

ho
rt

Young 
parent

Custody COVID 
redundancy

Refused to 
engage

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Reasons given for 16 - 19 years 
young people in care and care 

leavers who are NEET in 2019-20

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f N
EE

T 
co

ho
rt

Page 60



33

The chart above gives the main reasons for being NEET.  Of those who refused to engage in EET 
activities, 7 lived outside of Halton

Pre-COVID 2019-20, 19 - 22 year old cohort:

The overall cohort is 51 young people of which 55% are EET

Educa
tio

n

Employm
ent

Trai
ning

Ove
ral

l E
ET

NEET
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Percentage of 19 - 22 year old 
care leavers in Education, 

Employment and Training in 
2019-20

There are 21 young people in this cohort who are NEET:

Young p
are

nt

Custo
dy

Unfit 
to w

ork

Miss
ing f

rom ca
re

Delay
ed employm

ent 

(COVID)

Delay
ed co

urse
 (C

OVID)

Refused to
 enga

ge
0

10

20

30

40

50

Reasons given for 19 - 22 year 
care leavers who are NEET in 

2019-20

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f N
EE

T 
co

ho
rt

M
al

e

Fe
m

al
e

O
O

B

U
AS

C

EH
CP

Yo
un

g 
Pa

re
nt

s

YO
S

Cu
st

od
y

Fa
m

ily
 

Se
m

i/i
nd

ep
en

de
nt

 li
vi

ng
St

ay
in

g 
pu

t/
su

pp
or

te
d 

lo
dg

in
gs

Ha
lls

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80

Context of 19 - 22 year old care 
leavers in 2019-20 

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f c
oh

or
t

M
al

e

Fe
m

al
e

O
O

B

U
AS

C

EH
CP

Yo
un

g 
Pa

re
nt

s

YO
S

Cu
st

od
y

Fa
m

ily
 

Se
m

i/i
nd

ep
en

de
nt

 li
vi

ng
St

ay
in

g 
pu

t/
su

pp
or

te
d 

lo
dg

in
gs

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80

Context of 19 - 22 year old care 
leavers who are NEET in 2019-20

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f N
EE

T 
co

ho
rt

Page 61



34

Of our overall Post 16 cohort 4 young people are accessing higher education courses.  Unfortunately 
we currently do not have any young people on an apprenticeship, as the COVID restrictions have 
impacted upon this area of opportunity.

What the Virtual School has done and its impact:

 Realigned roles and responsibilities within the Virtual School to have a greater focus on post 16.  
 A dedicated member of the team now has a direct work case load of young people who are at 

risk of becoming NEET and an additional case load of young people who have expressed an 
interest in an apprenticeship.  This will be resumed once recruitment has taken place to the 
vacant position.

 Strengthened transition support from the end of the secondary phase to post 16 to ensure that 
all appropriate support is put in place to maintain post 16 engagement.

 Reviewed approaches used by other local authorities and is working towards implementing an 
improved model of support for care leavers, with a particular focus on increasing access to 
apprenticeships.  

Key Priorities for 2020-21:

 Embed the direct working approach for 16 – 19 year olds to continue to improve engagement 
in Education, Employment and Training with a particular focus on apprenticeships.

 Improve capacity within the Virtual School to extend the direct approach to include 19-22 tear 
old care leavers.

Key actions for 2020-21:

 Expand the capacity within the Virtual School to proactively support our post 16 young people.
 Ensure all young people in care and care leavers receive an appropriate offer of learning and 

progress onto a suitable and sustained learning programme of employment.
 Improve the number of apprenticeship opportunities for care leavers
 Conduct a comparative review of outcomes for post 16 young people remaining in care and 

those who leave care.
 Establish a Care Leaver Apprenticeship Strategic Group led by the Director of Children’s and 

Adults Services whose focus will be to remove barriers to care leavers accessing support and 
employment opportunities both within the Council and the broader community.

 Work with colleagues in Adult Social Care to establish a graduated programme from work 
experience to possible apprenticeships within the local care home sector.

 Develop closer links with the Chamber of Commerce and Halton Employment Partnership, with 
a view to increasing apprenticeship possibilities.

 Work with colleagues who are looking at Supported Internships to ensure that appropriate care 
leavers are prioritised for opportunities within the programme.

Page 62



35

Personal Education Plans
The statutory guidance ‘Promoting the education of looked after and previously looked after 
children’ (February 2018) places a duty on Local Authorities to maintain a Personal Education Plan 
(PEP) for every child in care in an educational setting up to the end of the school year that s/he turns 
18 (Year 13).  On coming into care a PEP must be initiated and completed no later than 20 working 
days so that it can inform the first statutory review (28 days) and then be reviewed termly from that 
point on. 

For a PEP to be high quality and effective, the guidance states that it should be:

A ‘living’, evolving, comprehensive and enduring record of the child’s experience, progress and 
achievement (academic and otherwise), and inform any discussion about education during 
statutory reviews of the child’s wider care plan’ (Para 23 pg 15)

It is a process that should enable each child or young person to make at least expected progress and 
fulfil their potential.  It should reflect the importance of a personalised approach to learning that 
meets the identified educational needs of the child, raises aspirations and builds life chances.

Page 63



36

As the PEP is an integral part of the care plan it is the responsibility of the child’s social worker to 
initiate the first PEP and ensure each PEP is completed from that point onwards.  However, the 
guidance is clear that the quality of the PEP is the joint responsibility of the Local Authority and the 
school.  

The role of the school, via the Designated Teacher, is to ensure that all appropriate educational 
information is shared, that SMART targets are set to accelerate the progress of the child in their 
education, that all appropriate support is in place for the child to be successful within their 
provision, and to demonstrate the impact of any Pupil Premium Plus funding. The Designated 
Teacher leads on how the PEP is developed and used in school to make sure the child’s progress 
towards education targets is monitored.

The role of the Virtual School is to ensure that there are effective systems in place to ensure social 
workers, Designated Teachers and schools, carers and IROs understand their role and responsibilities 
in initiating, developing, reviewing and updating the child’s PEP and how they help meet the needs 
identified in that PEP; ensure that PEPs are up-to-date, effective and high quality and focus on 
educational outcomes; ensure that all children in care (aged 3 – 18), wherever they are placed, have 
such a PEP; undertake regular quality assurance of all PEPs.

The Virtual School track on a termly basis the number and quality of PEPs completed.  This is then 
reported to schools and also senior Children’s Social Care managers.

PEP Completion 

Due to COVID restrictions introduced on 23rd March schools closed for education from that date until 
the end of the summer term.  Consequently, it was not possible to complete PEPs in their usual 
format as no formal learning was taking place.  However, the statutory requirement for all children 
in care to have a completed PEP remained. 

Work undertaken by the Virtual School to ensure statutory compliance with PEP completion and 
quality assurance: 

 A new PEP document was devised to reflect the current situation and to proactively provide 
support for our children and young people during this difficult time.  This was achieved through 
fast response collaboration between the Virtual School, Designated Teachers and Social 
Workers so that the new document was ready for the beginning of the Summer term. 

 PEPs have successfully moved to a virtual format with all key professionals, and where 
appropriate children and young people, taking part in conference calls and so the PEPs have 
continued to be completed in a timely manner. 

 PEPs have provided a clear mechanism to address any concerns foster carers have had in 
supporting children and young people with their education at home and in reducing anxieties 
around children and young people returning to school. 

 PEPs have focused on identifying interventions to support transition of young people back into 
education settings and have allowed schools to plan ahead including providing any extra 
support required to facilitate reintegration.  This has included virtual tours of school prior to a 
child or young person’s return and arranging bespoke visits for our Y6 pupils who are moving to 
Secondary schools.

Page 64



37

For 2019-20, overall PEP completion for the Autumn term was 90%, this dropped in the Spring term 
to 84% which was largely due to the impact of the COVID restrictions on our Post 16 cohort and also 
Early Years as some settings had to close.  During the summer term our Early Years cohort were not 
able to access provision consistently and Post 16 cohort were not able to access provision at all, 
therefore, this impacted on PEP completion in the summer term so an overall completion rate 
cannot be provided.

50

98
88

75

9086
98

79

32

8480

97
84

EY Primary Secondary Post 16 Total
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Autumn Spring Summer

Percentage PEP completion by school phase and the 
overall total in 2019-20

However, the chart below shows the completion rate for school age children across the full 
academic year and this demonstrates that despite a slight dip in the spring term the PEP completion 
rate has remained consistently high in spite of the challenging circumstances.

93

88.5

90.5

Autumn Spring Summer
87

88

89

90

91

92

93

94

% comp

Percentage PEP completion for school age children in 
care by term across 2019-20

The chart below shows the number of PEPs completed for those children and young people in care 
for the whole of the academic year 2019-20, but exclude our post 16 young people

Page 65



38

0 PEPs
 3% 1 PEP

 9%

2 PEPs
 13%

3 PEPs
 75%

Percentage of children who have been in care for the academic 
year 2019-20 who had 0 - 3 PEPs completed

The COVID restrictions have required a change to normal working practices for everyone and this 
has included how PEP are completed.  The meetings are now being held remotely rather than face to 
face and also social workers have had to adapt to working within bubbles and not being in the office 
at all times.  There were also capacity issues within the social work teams which has impacted on 
some PEP completion.

91.70%
85.70%

91.30%94.10%

62.50%

85.10%

64.70%

87%
93.50%

CIN W CIN R CICCL
0%

10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Autumn Spring Summer

PEP percentage completion for 2019-20 by Children's Social Work 
Teams

Quality Assurance

The Virtual School quality assure every PEP that is completed each term and provide feedback to 
schools around areas of improvement.  Previous analysis showed that it is the SMART targets and 
impact of Pupil Premium Plus sections that continue to need improvement.  However, the 
percentage of PEPs that are rated as Good or better is increasing.

This was verified during our ILACs inspection with feedback from the inspector stating:

Page 66



39

 KS1 and 2 PEPs are completed thoroughly, however, there is some variability across other key 
stages.

 The views of children are captured well, especially when the 1-page profile is undertaken by 
school.  However, these need to be completed more consistently to capture emotional 
wellbeing.

 The quality of Post 16 PEP is known as an area of improvement.
 Schools said they receive quality assurance feedback in 5 days – this is a real positive and 

strength.

Due to COVID restrictions and the changes that were made to the PEP document to reflect the 
situation, there cannot be year on year comparison of the quality of the PEPs.  No formal teaching 
took place from 23rd March and therefore, no academic targets could be set, no progress measures 
captured and use of Pupil Premium Plus was limited.  In addition to this, as stated above, Post 16 
PEPs were not able to be completed during the summer term and so there is no quality assurance 
data for that term.

The Virtual School has continued to undertake its quality assurance role and as can be seen 
improvements continue to be maintained in spite of the challenging circumstances.  

33

91.2

63
73

83.3 85

54.7

33.3

75
83 80.7

0

EY Primary Secondary Post 16
0

20

40

60

80

100

Aut % Spr % Sum %

Percentage of PEPs completed that are rated as Good+ across each phase 
for 2019-20

Key Priority for 2020-21:

 Improve the quality of Personal Education Plans, including Early Years and Post 16, with a 
particular focus on target setting, impact measures for Pupil Premium Plus and tracking the 
curriculum accessed.

Key Actions for 2020-21:

 To continue to support social workers to improve the completion across all phases.  This will be 
done in collaboration with team and divisional managers through their performance clinics.

 To continue to provide support and challenge to schools to improve the quality of all PEPs.  This 
will be done through the termly support and challenge meetings and also through Designated 
Teacher network meetings.

Page 67



40

 Build on the positive feedback to schools by completing quality assurance in ‘real time’ with 
targeted schools to drive improvements.

 Develop an accountability framework to address schools that have ‘stuck’ PEPs.
 Deliver SMART target training across all schools that have PEPs judged as RI or below.
 Develop capacity within the Virtual School to drive improvements in Early Years and Post 16 

PEP completion and quality.
 To establish a network of Post 16 providers to offer support and training and also target 

improving PEP quality.  This will be done through the work of the Post 16 ESW worker, social 
workers and PAs.

 To work directly with Riverside College to ensure that the completion and quality of their Post 
16 PEPs improve – this will be done through the work of the Post 16 ESW.

 To review our PEPs to ensure that we are tracking the child’s journey through the curriculum to 
ensure that it is broad and balanced, they are accessing their entitlement and that any learning 
‘building blocks’ that are missing are addressed.

Pupil Premium Plus
Children and young people who have been in care for 1 day or more and are of statutory school age 
are entitled to access Pupil Premium Plus funding (PP+).  The PP+ allocation of £2300, is made per 
child for the number of children looked after for at least one day as recorded in the March  
Children Looked After Data Return (SSDA903) and aged 4 to 15 at 31 August the previous year.  
The funding runs in line with the financial year (1st April – 31st March) and not an academic year.  
The conditions of grant clearly state that the grant allocation must be managed by the 
Headteacher of the Virtual School and does not go directly to the school the child is attending.  
The total grant is the number of eligible children multiplied by £2300.  This does not mean that 
every single child has to be allocated the full £2300.  The Headteacher can manage the grant in 
the best interests of individuals or the full cohort.  The Virtual School can top slice the PP+ grant 
and retain this centrally in order to undertake additional activities, projects or to more 
effectively discharge some of its statutory duties.

Halton have adopted an individual child needs led model for the allocation of PP+.  This is in 
recognition that the needs of each child can vary significantly over time depending on their life 
experiences and the barriers to learning that they encounter.  Each individual child’s needs and 
circumstances are taken into account and the allocation of funding is managed carefully and robustly 
through the completion of effective, timely and high quality PEPs.

PP+ expenditure 2019-20:

One of our priorities for this academic year was to undertake a review of the impact of our PP+ 
expenditure, which was acknowledged in our recent Ofsted ILACs inspections as a good step towards 
identifying key areas of impact.  However, given the COVID restrictions this was put on hold.  

Page 68



41

The PP+ grant is awarded on a financial year basis and for 2019-20 the total grant allocated for 
Halton was £475,700.  The chart below demonstrates that through PEP allocation and other Virtual 
School support 76% was spent directly on the children and young people to improve their 
educational outcomes.  The funding also includes an allocation to one of our secondary schools to 
develop bespoke support and engagement for learning for the high number of our young people in 
care they have on roll.  Whilst PP+ has continued to be made available to schools, the PEP allocation 
of funding has been impacted due to the suspension of formal learning as a result of COVID 
restrictions.

PEPs 
 37%

Training 
 2%

Central 
 22%

YP 
 39%

Area of expenditure of Pupil Premium Plus grant 2019-20

Training delivered was for Designated Teachers, Governors and other key professionals through 
conferences and termly network meetings.  The centrally retained portion was for the attendance 
service the Virtual School commission, for dedicated Education Psychology time, purchasing of 
Boxall Profile licences, PEP admin support and for 2 PEP Coordinators.  

40%

9%
14%

37%

49%

6%

15%

30%

48%

2%

19%

31%
37%

2%

22%

39%

PEPs Training Central Young People
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Comparison of areas of expenditure of Pupil Premium Plus 
grant over past academic years

Page 69



42

As formal learning was suspended from 23rd March it is not possible to analyse the link between the 
use of Pupil Premium Plus funding and progress this academic year.  However, the Virtual School will 
be focusing on this next academic year when schools fully reopen.

Key Priority for 2020-21:

 To undertake a Pupil Premium Plus review to look more closely at the best evidence based 
impact approaches.

Key Actions for 2020-21

 To continue to scrutinise the use and impact of PP+ funding through the PEPs and the termly 
support and challenge progress meetings.

 To develop and share a good practice guide with our local schools and across the region 
through the Designated Teachers network meetings and the regional meetings.

 To review and disseminate the EEF Toolkit for PP+ to all schools to ensure that they are utilising 
evidence based approaches.

Page 70



43

Additional work of the Virtual School
In our ILACS inspection in March 2020, it was noted that:

 The out of borough schools our children and young people attend reported that that the 
support provided by the Virtual School stands up well in comparison with that provided by their 
home and other LAs.

 All schools welcomed the strong link and visibility of the Virtual School in dealing with the 
education of children in care.

 The Virtual School has a strong presence and that communication is a strength.

Training and Development

The Virtual School offers a comprehensive training programme that is based on feedback from 
schools and analysis of the educational experiences of our children in care. Any costs incurred are 
covered through the Pupil Premium Plus grant.

There are termly Designated Teacher network meetings for both Primary and Secondary phases.  
These are focused on information and good practice sharing.  

We actively promote the Regional Designated Teachers conference and have high numbers of 
schools attending.  These conferences focus on national issues with speakers from Ofsted, DfE and 
other national groups attending.  This year’s focus was the implications of the new Ofsted School 
Inspection Framework and the Exclusions Review.

We also run at least one conference or training event per term.  This year we have focused on 
meeting the emotional and mental health needs of our children and young people as this was 
identified as a priority by our schools:

Training pre-COVID 2019-20

The training below all took place prior to the COVID restrictions, but unfortunately others had to be 
cancelled.

Training event Focus

Page 71



44

Children in Care can – 
Aspire and Achieve

Training for Designated Teachers and Designated Governors.  
The focus was on raising aspirations around our children in care and 
challenging underachievement.  Updates were provided on children 
and young people’s outcomes.  Two workshops were designed to 
challenge practice around ‘labelling’ and managing moments of crisis.

Flipping your lid – 
managing moments of 
crisis

Training for foster carers.  
The session explored the brain and the body in response to 
stress/crisis, the crisis curve and the 3 C’s in responding to crisis: 
Calming (de-escalation techniques), Connecting (emotional 
validation) and Controlling (planning for crisis).

Mental Health First Aid 
Training

Training for Designated Teachers.  
Specifically designed for DTs to provide them with tools to support 
the mental health and emotional wellbeing of our children in care.

The WHY behind the 
WHAT

Multi-agency training. 
Delivered by a drama based organisation, the training focused on 
delivering dynamic and thought provoking scenarios so that greater 
understanding could be gained around the reasons for challenging 
behaviour and exploring ideas in managing challenges to be able to 
support children in care in achieving their full potential.  Delegates 
were given time to step back, reflect and share ideas.

NW Regional Conference 
– Champions for Change

Training for Designated Teachers.  
Presentation from key partner including Ofsted, DfE, NAVSH and the 
Rees Centre, Oxford University.

Additional learning and literacy support

Halton Virtual provides a high level of ‘outside the classroom’ educational support for our children 
and young people in care.  We have worked hard to find different and creative ways to continue this 
support despite the COVID restrictions being in place.

The Virtual School coordinate additional one-to-one tuition for any Halton child in care who requests 
support with a subject regardless of where they are educated or living.  The tutors are always 
qualified teachers and subject specialists and provide regular tuition reports. Whilst our original 1:1 
tuition offer has been face to face, we have responded to the current situation and moved to 
provide online tuition.  This continued throughout the lockdown period and over the summer 
holidays to support children and young people to remain engaged in their learning and to mitigate 
against falling behind.

In partnership with a local bookshop (The Curiosity Book shop) the Virtual School send an  
individualised book parcel to each identified child in their placement on a half termly basis.  The 
children are identified through analysis of the PEP outcomes and also all Reception age children 
receive them.  The parcels are tailored to the child’s interests and their reading and writing levels.  
The aims of the book parcels are to encourage a love of reading at home; and improve reading ages 
and vocabulary development. 27 children and young people received the parcels during the Autumn 
term but unfortunately due to COVID restrictions this had to cease from 23rd March onwards.  We 
will be looking to re-start this when appropriate.

Page 72



45

The Virtual School also has a yearly subscription to Storytime Magazine which is sent out each 
month to identified children in Key Stage 2.  The magazines are brightly illustrated and have short 
stories.  The aim of the magazines are to encourage a love of reading at home particularly for those 
who struggle accessing a book and to improve reading age and vocabulary development.  The Virtual 
School and the magazine company were able to find a solution to GDPR concerns so that these 
magazines continued to be sent to the 37 identified children.

In addition to the above the Virtual School provided the following support for learning during the 
COVID restrictions:

 The Virtual School website (www.myvirtualschool.org) was enhanced and regularly updated 
with COVID-19 guidance from the DfE; curriculum links particularly Maths and English and 
other subjects; resources to support learning at home; other activities to support carers in 
keeping children and young people engaged in their learning such as virtual tours of museums, 
cross curricular activities, coding projects, arts & craft ideas, fun ideas from famous authors 
etc.  A new section with ideas and resources to support Mental Health and Emotional 
Wellbeing was also added.  

 The Virtual School was in the process of launching a digital learning platform (Anspear/Nimbl) 
which was being targeted at specific children and young people and their carers.  This could not 
happen in the planned way so our Education Support Worker contacted 20 carers and their 
young person individually to ensure that they were set up on the system and could access both 
curriculum materials for the child/young person and also education based professional 
development modules for the carer.  

Keeping in Touch Packs:

The Virtual School were mindful that school and learning was very different during lockdown and the 
COVID restrictions, and that our children and young people were ‘missing a lot’.  Therefore, we 
developed ‘Keeping in Touch’ packs which were sent out to 203 school aged children and young 
people for the summer holidays with resources and activity ideas, including opportunities for them 
to engage in some activities virtually with the Virtual School.  Packs were tailored to different age 
groups and specific SEN needs.  

The items and activities were designed to: 

 Improve reading skills, 
 Develop creative writing and use of language skills, 
 Encourage STEAM by giving them hands on experiments to do using household items, 
 Develop number, logic and strategy skills through card games and activities, 
 Improve fluency of multiplication.  

The variety of items included:

 Virtual School Newsletter – giving them ideas of things to do and guiding them to the website.
 Worksheets
 Competitions
 Books

Page 73

http://www.myvirtualschool.org/


46

 Games
 Stuffed toys
 Wellbeing packs

Feedback from children, young people, carers and social workers has been overwhelmingly positive.  
Some young people who have never engaged in our activity programme have enjoyed receiving the 
parcels and completing the activities.  Therefore, we are looking to continue with this approach even 
when our activity programme is up and running again.

Activity and Support Programme

During the school holidays the Virtual School provide a range of activity days to engage and support 
our children and young people to develop a variety of academic, personal and independence skills.  
Some days are fully developed and led by the Education Support Worker within the Virtual Schools 
and others are delivered in partnership with other guests, agencies and providers.  All the activity 
programme is funded through the Pupil Premium Plus grant.

However, due to COVID restrictions coming in on 23rd March 2020 only the following activities were 
able to be run.

Target 
group

Number 
of CYP 

attended
Details Aims

Creative Mind with Curtis Jobling
Years 8, 9 
& 10

10 Curtis Jobling joined us again to bring 
us more lively activities, hints and 
tips and general chit chat about 
writing and also future aspirations 
regardless of what they may be.  His 
last visit with us brought us lots of 
laughter and the feedback from 
everyone who took part was that 
they’d like more of the same!

Writing
Speaking and listening 
Decision making
Self Confidence
Self Esteem

Eat Fit & Move It
All CIC 32 The CIC health team delivered a 

hands on, activity packed day around 
“healthy eating and physical 
exercise”.

Healthy lifestyle choices
Cooking 
Nutrition
PE

Monster Mayhem

Page 74



47

Target 
group

Number 
of CYP 

attended
Details Aims

Year 3 & 
Year 4

7 A monster themed day perfect for 
Halloween filled with lots of crafts 
and games.  Children created a 
monster puppet, gave their puppet a 
character profile and worked as a 
team.

Art & Design 
Reading 
Writing –
Spelling, punctuation and 
grammar
Times tables
Number patterns
Interpersonal skills 
Communication skills 
Team working.

Pit Stop Challenge
Year 9, 
Year 10 & 
Year 11

6 Delivered by Hi-Impact.  CIC teamed 
up as “pit crew” to dismantle and 
reassemble a go-kart.  The challenge 
was to do this in the quickest time 
possible as they raced against other 
teams.

Design & Technology
Interpersonal skills 
Communication skills 
Team working.

Virtual Reality
Year 7 to 
Year 9

14 Delivered by Hi-Impact. CIC had the 
chance to use tools to create and 
view their own VR world.

Computing
Design & Technology
Imagination
Exploration and 
inquisitiveness

Now Press Play
Year 1 to 
Year 4

10 Delivered by Hi-Impact. CIC become 
the main character of a story 
through an interactive audio 
experience.  They also got to make 
use of different apps and technology 
equipment to practice skills in 
computer coding as well as literacy 
and numeracy.

Speech and Language
Discussion skills
Computing

Spy Academy Code Breakers
Year 5 & 
Year 6

11 The day involved solving riddles and 
code breaking to expose enemy spies 
who have infiltrated the spy 
academy.

History 
Problem solving 
Interpersonal skills 
Communication skills 
Team working.

Some feedback from our young people:

I enjoyed the exercising and 
food tasting.  I learnt about 

sugars in food today.

My favourite part of the 
day was exercising.  I have 
different exercises to learn 
at my house. I would come 

again because it is fun.

Page 75



48

Key actions for 2020-2021:

 To explore the use of Microsoft Teams to enable the delivery of virtual activity days.
 To develop the website to improve communication with and support for carers and children 

and young people in care.
 To expand on the Keeping in Touch packs to provide more resources at home for carers and 

children and young people to use, particularly through the school holidays and social 
distancing procedures resulting from the COVID restrictions.

I enjoyed the building and taking apart the 
go kart.  I also enjoyed the team work side 

of it.  I would definitely like to do something 
with hi-impact again.

I had fun and I enjoyed 
myself.  I also found some 

topics interesting and 
cool.

I liked the part when we 
did the quiz and when we 

did the mission.  I like 
everything!

Page 76



49

Key Priorities for 2020-21
Priority Rationale
To ensure that all Halton children in care 
continue to access their educational 
entitlement throughout the COVID 19 
pandemic.

Due to the COVID 19 pandemic children in care did 
not receive formal education from March 2020.  
This will have impacted upon their progress and 
overall engagement.  We need to ensure that all 
children in care return to school and are provided 
with all appropriate support to enable them to 
catch up on lost learning and continue making 
progress.

Close the attainment gap between Halton 
children in care and their non-care 
experienced peers, with a particular focus 
on achieving the higher grades in Key stage 
4.

It will be important to focus on all end of key stage 
results due to the loss of learning in 2019-20.  
Analysis at Key Stage 4 shows that improvements 
need to be made particularly in the number of 
young people achieving areas of English and Maths 
at the higher grades.

Improve the quality of Personal Education 
Plans, including Early Years and Post 16, 
with a particular focus on target setting, 
impact measures for Pupil Premium Plus and 
tracking the curriculum accessed.

Ofsted highlighted the need to improve the quality 
of PEPs in Early Years and Post 16 and in the 
consistency of target setting at Key Stage 4. 

Page 77



50

Commission and conduct a Halton Virtual 
School Pupil Premium Plus Review to 
ascertain impact, areas of good practice and 
areas for development.

It was not possible to achieve this in 2019-20 but it 
remains important tool to understand how our use 
of Pupil Premium Plus can have greater impact on 
improving the outcomes for all children in care.

To continue to improve the number of 
secondary age young people in care having 
attendance above 95%

Whilst there has been improvement this year, it 
has been a different year for attendance.  We need 
to keep the focus on ensuring that our secondary 
age pupils are in school and learning.

Reduce the number of children in care 
receiving one or more fixed term exclusion, 
and the length and the frequency.

It will be important to monitor the impact of 
returning to education on the social, emotional and 
behavioural needs of children in care and to ensure 
that exclusions and resulting time out of school is 
minimised.

Monitor and risk assess the progress of any 
child in care attending a school rated as 
Requires Improvement or below by Ofsted, 
including undertaking additional support 
and challenge visits to the school.

Ofsted inspections were suspended during COVID 
19 restrictions so our schools remain at the 
previous academic year judgements.  Once formal 
education has resumed it will be important to track 
the progress of those children in school that are 
judged below good to ensure that they are being 
supported and making progress.

Develop a SEND dashboard in order to more 
effectively monitor the outcomes, support 
and quality of provision.

This was not completed during the previous 
academic year but will be a focus so we can more 
robustly monitor our SEND pupils as a discreet 
cohort.

Embed the direct working approach for 16 – 
19 year olds to continue to improve 
engagement in Education, Employment and 
Training with a particular focus on 
apprenticeships.

This was identified as an area of focus within our 
Ofsted inspection.  We need to both increase the 
capacity of the Virtual School and develop more 
robust strategies in terms of engagement in EET 
and particularly opportunities to take part in an 
apprenticeship.

Improve capacity within the Virtual School 
to extend the direct approach to include 19-
22 year old care leavers.

As above this was identified as an area of 
improvement within our Ofsted.

Page 78


	Agenda
	1 MINUTES
	3 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
	4 EXECUTIVE BOARD MINUTES
	Extracts - 25.01.21

	5 SSP Minutes
	REVISED DRAFT v2 Halton Children's Trust Notes 3.12.2020

	6a Halton Local Area SEND Strategy 2021-25
	6b Headteacher of the Virtual School’s Annual Report for Halton Children in Care
	Headteacher of Halton Virtual School Annual Report 2019-20.docx


